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Foreword
CCGs have been in existence now for 5 years. Over this period of time we have looked to
ensure that local people have access to the care and services they need to stay healthy,
receive treatment promptly and to be treated with dignity and compassion. Each year we
have produced an Annual Report detailing the work that we have done and highlighting the
areas where we feel we have made a difference. This year is no exception, and I am
pleased to present this report to you.
Within the document you will find the Performance Report, the Accountability Report and the
Financial Statements. These reports cover the important aspects of what we are trying to do
– namely to ensure excellent care is in place, to do so with good governance, and to live
within our financial means.
It is worth noting that the Performance Report comes first, and reminds us that the patient
needs to be at the forefront of all of our plans and projects. This is what we are about, this is
what we are here for - to work to improve the health of the people of Vale Royal. When I look
through the Performance Report I am proud to note the achievements of the past year.
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our local Care Communities continue to develop and will form the basic ‘units of
planning’ for health and care services as we move forwards.
Our ongoing plans to invest in and promote Primary Care through the GP Forward View
has seen increased numbers of clinical pharmacists, physiotherapists and others in
general practice.
Service redesign of Advanced Nurse Practitioners has seen a change to their way of
working – supporting GPs in the community to avoid unnecessary hospital admission
and reduce the burden of home visiting on GPs
The launch of our Musculoskeletal Single Point of Access (MSK SPA) has seen patients
being seen by the most appropriate practitioner according to their needs whether that be
physiotherapist, consultant orthopaedic surgeon or rheumatologist.
Work on Discharge to Assess has seen patients moving in a more streamlined way out
of hospital once medically fit to do so. We have seen significant reductions in numbers of
patients still in hospital despite being medically fit and waiting for social support.
Our local Medicines Management website continues to provide local doctors, nurses and
pharmacists with up to date information about prescription medicines including guidance
for certain conditions and how to safely prescribe. Our locally agreed formulary is in
place to ensure we are prescribing effectively based on both clinical and cost outcomes.

These are just a few examples of the work that has been done and that is ongoing. We
believe that the people of Vale Royal continue to have access to quality health care services
and we are working hard to improve that.
I commend the Annual Report to you.

Dr Jonathan Griffiths
GP Chair NHS Vale Royal CCG
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1.

The Performance Report

1.1

Overview

1.1.1

Statement from Interim Chief Executive

Welcome to NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)’s Annual Report and
Accounts. NHS Vale Royal CCG is the organisation that decides how to spend the NHS budget
on the majority of health services for around 104,000 people living in Vale Royal. This includes
the care and treatment you receive in hospital, maternity services, community and mental
health services. We also have delegated responsibility for commissioning general practice
services. More information on the role and the work of the CCG, including its key achievements
and challenges during the year, is set out in the following Report.
I came into post in September 2017 shortly after the CCG and our local partners started to work
in a collective system as part of the Capped Expenditure Process (CEP). Our relationships with
key stakeholders, particularly the main provider have vastly improved, and we are working ever
closer and more constructively with the local authority to address some long-standing issues to
deliver system and ‘place based’ transformation. We have made meaningful and positive
progress in all areas of business – improved healthcare outcomes and quality of services;
personal and organisational development for the staff; and a stronger financial position,
amongst others. All of these are good for the organisation, staff, member practices, partners
and most importantly for the population we serve in Vale Royal. However we know there is
much more to do, and the whole organisation is committed and motivated to continue with this
improvement journey.
It has been a privilege to lead the CCG and be part of a team who recognised the need for
change, and who have embraced the opportunities over the past 12 months to move the
organisation forward and improve performance where it matters.

Clare Watson
Interim Chief Executive and Accountable Officer
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1.1.2 Statement of the purpose and activities of the organisation
NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) exists to improve the health and
healthcare of the local population. Our aim is to use the local knowledge of our GPs and their
practice teams to develop the way that health services are delivered and help our patients to
make full use of the services that are available. We are committed to making a difference!
We are a membership organisation comprised of 12 member GP practices across Winsford,
Northwich and surrounding rural areas (illustrated below). We are here to improve health and
healthcare for everyone living in these areas. The total population is around 104,000 people.
NHS Vale Royal’s population falls within the boundary of Cheshire West & Chester Council.
Close relationships exist between ourselves and NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG), with whom we share a management team. We also work closely with NHS West
Cheshire CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and both Cheshire West & Chester and Cheshire
East local authorities.

Our main secondary care\acute provider is Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
(MCHFT), which is situated just outside Crewe. Mental health services are provided by
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CWP). Central Cheshire Integrated
Community Partnership (CCICP), a multispecialty community partnership provides community
services.
We have responsibility for designing local health care services and will do this by
commissioning or buying health and care services including:
• Elective hospital care – pre-arranged, non-emergency care (including planned operations)
• Rehabilitation care – care that helps people gain greater independence after illness, injury
or surgery
• Urgent and emergency care
• Primary medical services – including care delivered by GP practices
• Most community health services – care that is mostly delivered in people’s homes by teams
of nurses and therapists, coordinating care with other professions
• Mental health and learning disability services
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•
•

Emergency and patient transport services
We also promote and facilitate safe and effective prescribing through improving quality,
reducing risk and encouraging cost-effective prescribing

We work with patients and healthcare professionals and in partnership with local communities
and local authorities. We are responsible for arranging emergency and urgent care services
within our boundaries, and for commissioning services for any unregistered patients who live in
our area. All GP practices have to belong to a Clinical Commissioning Group.
We lease our office building from NHS Property Services and our business address is:
Bevan House
Barony Court
Nantwich
Cheshire
CW5 5RD
Tel: 01270 275303 Fax: 01270 618392
Email: nhsvaleroyal.ccg@nhs.net

1.1.3 Key Issues and risks
Understanding the needs of Vale Royal residents
There is clear evidence that people’s health, their access to health services and experiences of
services are affected by their age, gender, disability, race, sex, sexual orientation,
religion/belief, transgender, marital/civil partnership status and pregnancy/maternity status.
Further information relating to our local population and our health inequalities can be found in
the Performance Analysis section but some general characteristics are set out below:

The size of the circles shows the proportion of the population in that group.
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The black dots show the average proportion of the population in that age group. The darker
colours show a greater than average proportion of the population in that age group.
The CCG’s plans and priorities are informed by the local Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA).
The health and wellbeing priorities identified in the Cheshire West and Chester JSNA are:

Key financial and other risks
Risks and issues facing the CCG during the year were captured in the Board Assurance
Framework (BAF) and were monitored as described in the Corporate Governance section of the
Accountability Report. The key risks outlined in the Board Assurance Framework at March
2018 were:
• Delivery of the Better Care Fund (BCF) and Partnership Working
• Provider Performance
• Health Economy Stability
• GP Workforce Capacity/Development
• Ability to Deliver the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention Programme (QIPP)
• Ability of the Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) to deliver required services
8

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

CCG Workforce Development
Major Business Continuity Event
Delivering Parity of Esteem for Mental Health
Improved Access to Services for Patients
Overall Delivery of Financial Control Total / Financial Balance
Ensuring Quality, Safety and Experience of Services are not adversely affected by the
financial challenges
Executive Team Capacity
Primary Care Capacity / Stability of Primary Care

The 2018/19 financial plan submitted to NHS England for NHS Vale Royal CCG details a
control total of a £2 million deficit. Within this plan there is a 3.1% efficiency challenge which is
considerably higher than the NHS England expectation of 2.1% but is lower than the delivery in
2017/18 of 3.6%. The total value of the efficiency plan is £4.690 million. The CCG is also
required to report a planned risk adjusted deficit but have mitigated all the risk.

Going Concern
During the year, our auditors issued a letter to the Secretary of State for Health under Section
30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 advising that the CCG expected to breach its
statutory duty to operate with its spending targets for 2017-18 (see note 18). Furthermore the
CCG expects to exceed expenditure targets in 2018-19 and in conjunction with NHS England
has set a budget deficit.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision
of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that
service in published documents, the CCG’s spending allocation for 2018/19 has been published
by the department for Health and Social Care. Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases
to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the
financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. There are no plans to
discontinue the services currently commissioned by the CCG. Management considers these
circumstances to be adequate grounds for applying the going concern basis.

1.1.4 Performance Summary
NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG developed a joint Operational Plan for
2017-19. This plan set out how the CCGs would deliver the “Connecting Care” model (which is
illustrated overleaf). Key highlights of the work undertaken to deliver this during 2017/18 are set
out in the following “key areas of focus” table. Detail on performance against a range of key
measures is presented in the Performance Analysis section of this report.
A key area of focus for the CCG during the year has been working with partners to deliver a
sustainable health care system. The Capped Expenditure Process (CEP) is a system-wide
approach which has been adopted by the South Cheshire and Vale Royal system. The process
was supported by NHS England (NHSE) and NHS Improvement (NHSI), the relevant regulatory
bodies, and has been taken up enthusiastically locally as the way to improve the local health
and social care system for patients whilst remaining within budget. The CEP has been
extremely successful in improving cross-system working and reducing barriers. This has
delivered significant efficiencies and financial savings whilst maintaining performance in respect
of quality. The CEP has put in place the relationships from which an Integrated Care
Partnership (ICP) will be developed. Working with Deloitte, system partners submitted the initial
CEP Plan in June 2017. There was a further submission in October 2017.
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The local providers and the CCG have developed plans over the year to save £20 million
across the South Cheshire and Vale Royal health economy. This is a key success which has
been driven by the need for transformational change and the reduction in system cost. The
partners in the CEP have met regularly over 2017/18 to drive forward the changes. A joint
Programme Management Office exists with single reporting. The CCG is proactive in managing
demand whilst the Trusts work together with the CCGs to transform the system.
Senior executives from partner organisations within the CEP meet on a weekly basis as the
CEP Executive to drive the process and deliver system integration. More information on this is
provided in the Performance Analysis.
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1.2

Performance Analysis

1.2.1

Performance and discharge of duties

The section below highlights how the CCG has delivered its priorities and statutory duties;
how we have performed against key performance indicators; and our view as members of the
progress to date. This is not an exhaustive list but seeks to provide the reader with a flavour of
our work during 2017/18.

1.2.2

Developments during the Year

To enable the CCG to provide good quality care, make improvements to services for our
population and develop a more financially sustainable health and care economy, we are
working with our partners to ensure closer integration between health and care services.
To ensure the CCG focussed its efforts and resources in the most efficient and effective way
and deliver maximum impact, the CCG made a number of changes to way it worked during
2017/18:
The CCG appointed an Interim Chief Executive / Accountable Officer in year who led work in
Greater Manchester on an integration programme which aligned the CCG and local authority
director team, a single commissioning board and a new integrated care Foundation Trust.
The Accountable Officer had brought this significant experience and expertise to the CCG and
is now leading locally on the development of pan Cheshire commissioning, integrated care
partnerships and system change.
The CCG has held regular “Awaydays”, giving the leadership team, including the
organisations’ executive team and clinical leaders the opportunity to develop as a team and
consider the key issues facing the CCG and local health economy. Informal sessions of the
Governing Body are also held on a regular basis to allow dedicated time for member
development and discussion of key issues outside of a formal setting.
The Capped Expenditure Process (CEP), as described in the Performance Summary,
represents a significant change in the way the CCG has operated during the year. The CEP
Plan set out partners’ approach to delivery which included:
Reviewing current plans:
• Understand joint underlying positions
• Review existing plans
• Challenge and revise plans
Identifying Opportunities:
• Understand spend profile
• Collate benchmarks
• Identify opportunities for savings in FY17/18
Developing and quantifying further opportunities:
• Develop additional savings
• Develop further trade-offs
• Identify and describe wider impacts
• Assess risks
Delivering Outputs:
• Summary system financial position
• Sensitivity analysis based on delivery
At a Governing Body meeting in September 2017 the CCG considered a list of projects and
budget changes for inclusion in the CEP. They noted that the proposals had been developed
“through a collective effort across the health and social care system. Partners include: NHS
South Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG, Mid Cheshire Hospitals (MCHFT), Cheshire and
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Wirral Partnership (CWP), the GP Alliance, Central Cheshire Integrated Care Partnership
(CCICP), Cheshire West and Chester Council (CWAC), Cheshire East Council (CEC), NHSE
and NHSI”. The Governing Body approved a number of project and budget changes and
“supported further work to be done on the presented schemes to include quality impact
assessments, NHSE/ NHSI approval and public, patient and staff engagement where
appropriate”.
Senior executives from partner organisations within the CEP meet on a weekly basis as the
CEP Executive to drive the process and deliver system integration. The system has worked
collaboratively and delivered a system wide deficit of circa £1.900 million for 2017/18, whilst
the CCGs achieved a joint deficit of circa £8.000 million. This is a delivery of £11.600 million
savings (circa 3.0%) within the CCGs and an equal level of cost saving being delivered within
the local providers.
The impact of working as one with a single focus has resulted in improvements in patient care
allowed health to work more closely with social care and removed barriers. It is hoped that in
future these changes can be expanded and further barriers removed allowing greater
efficiencies and further reduction in cost whilst improving population health and implementing
place based care.
This approach has been supported by a series of CCG-led system-wide workshops, bringing
together the CCGs, local providers, primary care and our local authorities have been
arranged. The workshops started early in 2017 and this approach is being taken forward for
2018/19. The first of three sessions for 2018/19 have been planned for early 2018 with the first
workshop being held on 16th February and brought partners together with a commitment to
work collectively to ensure that the money we have as a whole system is spent in the best
possible way for our local population. A priority task list was developed at the 16 February
session and a “next steps and deliverables” document was circulated to participants outlining
issues to be addressed, actions to be taken, identifying action owners from across the system
and deadlines for delivering those actions. Each action owner has been tasked with
completing “Priority Action Reports” outlining the scope, priorities, benefits, barriers and
timescales associated with each.
NHSE/NHSI’s Central and Eastern Cheshire Review supported the development of an
integration programme to deliver an integrated care partnership (ICP) across Central and
Eastern Cheshire, including a new contracting model. CCG officers and members are heavily
engaged in system transformation work to develop an ICP / Accountable Care System (ACS)
across a combined footprint:
• Clare Watson, the CCGs’ Accountable Officer, leads the workstream responsible for
developing the Accountable Care System / Integrated Care Partnership development
locally.
• Dr Andrew Wilson, Clinical Chair of NHS South Cheshire CCG, is clinical lead for the
integrated care workstream locally.
• Dr Andrew Wilson is also a member of the GP 5 Year Forward View group.
To support this move to a more integrated system, the Connecting Care Programme Board
(covering NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG) and Caring Together
Programme Board (covering NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG) have agreed to merge. The
merger will bring together health and social care partners through a joint programme board
providing strong, visible and collective leadership across a single co-ordinated programme of
work.
The programme board will manage delivery of the following shared objectives:
• Ensuring that the area’s total population of 450,000 has access to local hospital-based
services, where it is financially and clinically sustainable
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•
•
•

Moving towards place-based models of care in communities of between 30,000 and
50,000 people in a clinically and financially-sustainable way
Delivering improvements against an agreed outcomes-based framework for the benefit of
the local population and care users
An agreed recovery programme delivering continuous improvement of partners’ underlying
financial position

The CCGs have been working with partners to define ‘place’ and to understand what it means
for our populations. The notion of “place-shaping” relates to local players collectively using
their influence, powers, creativity and abilities to create attractive, prosperous, safe and
healthy communities - places where people want to live, work and do business. We have two
Care Communities in Vale Royal which we believe will be the building blocks of this approach
and will become the locus of decision making for our GPs, provider colleagues such as
community health, social and care providers, third sector, mental health and many others. As
integrated/joint commissioners, we work with Cheshire West and Chester Council (CWaC)
and Cheshire East Council (CEC), commissioning care and quality outcomes for the same
populations, individually spending money on the same people. We have made great inroads
with our work on the Better Care Fund (BCF) and Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) to start
to formalise a more joined up approach to commissioning, and it is our intention to develop
this further. The BCF is explained in a little more detail at section 1.2.6 of this Report.
Nationally and regionally there is a direction to identify ‘place’ as being the local authority
boundaries. We have been working closely with CWaC and CEC colleagues to consider what
this would mean for NHS Vale Royal and NHS South Cheshire CCGs. The Deputy Chief
Executive from CWaC, Chief Executive from CEC and Executive and Councillor colleagues
from both local authorities attended an informal Governing Body meeting in March 2018 to
present the advantages for the CCGs working on a shared footprint with the two local
authorities. The focus is on service improvement and delivery, which we are already doing
with the Councils because our responsibilities are for the same population.
Both CCGs work with the individual local authorities for Public Health, all social care, wider
community groups and the wider “determinants of health” (i.e. the wider social and
environmental factors that affect people’s health and wellbeing). The BCF/iBCF
developments are commissioned on the two local authority footprints, for example, so we are
already integrated, and working together on two footprints for most of the services that help
improve the wellbeing and health of our population.
Formalising our ‘places’ on a local authority footprint will enable deeper integration for service
delivery and enable the Care Communities to develop closer, more meaningful relationships
with partners for their populations, which is really what is important for the CCGs and our role
in commissioning improved care and outcomes.
The CCG is participating in Wave 1 of NHS England’s Commissioning Capability Programme.
The ‘Delivering today’ (improvements under the CCGIAF) element of the programme will
concentrate on supporting CCGs currently in special measures. In parallel, work is being
done to develop the required content for the ‘Preparing for the future’ (ACS capability
support)” element of the programme. Members of the Executive Team have helped shape and
develop the modules with NHSE and partners so it meets the system requirements.
The programme team undertook a ‘diagnostic’ phase, prior to commencement of the
programme. A significant amount of documentation was provided to the team to inform this
exercise. Interviews with key stakeholders have been undertaken to develop a tailored
support package for the CCGs. This work will also help shape future waves of the programme
with other CCGs, including neighbouring CCGs (this will, in itself, help support planning on
integration of services).
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The CCG has established a Joint Commissioning Committee in conjunction with the other
Cheshire CCGs. The Joint Committee is currently chaired by the Clinical Chair of NHS Vale
Royal CCG. The CCG has revised its constitution to delegate authority to the Joint Committee
to make decisions in accordance with an agreed workplan.
The establishment of the Joint Committee provides an opportunity to better align CCG
commissioning across Cheshire, which can lead to equity of services, improved outcomes for
patients and better use of available funding.
This aligns to the agreed purpose of the Committee “to enable transparent, consistent and
timely decision making for commissioning health services across Cheshire, thereby improving
outcomes and enabling the efficient use of available resources within its delegated authority”
and the agreed principles around the establishment of the Committee, namely:
• commissioning at scale to help lead to better outcomes;
• meeting the needs of people not organisations;
• reducing unwarranted variation;
• be an enabler for the development of accountable care systems; and
• ensuring the local NHS commissions services within its available resources.
This Committee, and wider collaboration and co-ordination, is supported by the Joint
Executive Team. This team comprises the Chief Officers, Chief Finance Officers and other
senior executives of the Cheshire CCGs.

1.2.3

Key Performance Measures - CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework (IAF)

The CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) is a tool that NHS England uses to
gauge how well CCGs are performing. A wide range of indicators are monitored during the
year and, at the end of the year, CCGs receive a series of ratings. The framework included a
number of clinical indicators, some of which contribute to Clinical Priority Areas (CPAs).
Within the CCG, each CPA has a designated Clinical Director Lead who works with CCG
officers and clinical colleagues to drive performance in that area. Corporate oversight of
performance against the IAF has also been strengthened during the year by the appointment
of a Director of Assurance and Turnaround from February 2018.
Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) undertook a review of the CCG’s arrangements for
monitoring performance against the IAF during the year and provided a “Significant
Assurance” finding.
The 2017/18 CCG ratings will not be available until the summer. The overall rating for
2016/17 was “Inadequate”. This was based on “RED” ratings for the Financial Management
and Quality of Leadership elements of the assessment and the Annual Assessment from NHS
England noted that:
• “The CCG’s performance was at or above the level required for the majority of NHS
Constitution standards, ensuring that key standards were met for most patients despite the
challenges faced by the CCG”
• “The prime challenge for the CCG is its financial position”
• “A related challenge for the CCG is its relationship with its main acute provider. It was
disappointing that the CCG and Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust have had
ongoing issues throughout the year”
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New
IAF Ref:

IAF Indicator (and associated Clinical Priority Area)

CPA
Rating
2016/17

102a

% 10-11 classified overweight /obese

103a
103b
104a
105b
106a

Patients who achieved NICE targets (Diabetes CPA)
Attendance of structured education course (Diabetes CPA)
Injuries from falls in people 65yrs +
Personal health budgets
Inequality in admissions for urgent care sensitive (UCS) and
ambulatory care sensitive (ACS) conditions
Anti-Microbial Resistance: appropriate prescribing
Anti-Microbial Resistance: broad spectrum prescribing
% of Carers with a long term condition who feel supported to manage
their condition.
High quality care - acute
High quality care - primary care
High quality care - adult social care
Cancers diagnosed at early stage (Cancer CPA)
Cancer 62 days of referral to treatment (Cancer CPA)
One-year survival from all cancers (Cancer CPA)
Cancer patient experience (Cancer CPA)
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) recovery rate (MH
CPA)
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) - access (MH
CPA)
Early Intervention Psychosis (EIP) 2 week referral (MH CPA)
Mental Health - Children and Young People's mental health (MH CPA)

RI
RI

G
G
tbc
tbc
tbc
tbc
tbc
tbc
tbc
G
G

141b
144a
162a

Mental Health - Crisis care and liaison (MH CPA)
Mental Health - Out of Area Placements (MH CPA)
Learning Disabilities - reliance on specialist Inpatient care (LD CPA)
Learning Disabilities - annual health check (LD CPA)
Completeness of the GP learning disability register (LD CPA)
Neonatal mortality and stillbirths (Maternity CPA)
Experience of maternity services (Maternity CPA)
Choices in maternity services (Maternity CPA)
Maternal smoking at delivery (Maternity CPA)
Dementia diagnosis rate (Dementia CPA)
Dementia post diagnostic support (Dementia CPA)
Emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive (UCS) conditions
A&E admission, transfer, discharge within 4 hours
Delayed transfers of care per 100,000 population
Hospital bed use following emerg admission
Patient experience of GP services
Primary care access
Primary care workforce
18 week referral to treatment (RTT)
7 Day Service - achievement of standards
% NHS continuing healthcare (CHC) assessments taking place in
hospital setting
In-year financial performance
Digital interactions - utilisation of e-referral
Probity and corporate governance

163a
163b
164a
165a

Staff engagement index
Progress against Workforce Race Equality Scheme (WRES)
Working relationship effectiveness
Quality of CCG leadership

107a
107b
108a
121a
121b
121c
122a
122b
122c
122d
123a
123b
123c
123d
123e
123f
124a
124b
124c
125a
125b
125c
125d
126a
126b
127b
127c
127e
127f
128b
128c
128d
129a
130a
131a

Reported National Current Reported
Position
Perf. (out of 207)
April 2018 dashboard

64
38
131
194
133

31.2%
(2013/14 to 2015/16)
42.5% (2016/17)
4.0% (2016/17)
2,794 (17-18 Q2)
10.45 (17-18 Q3)

192

3,254(17-18 Q2)

55
40

0.957 (2017 12)

128

0.63 (2017)
64 (17-18 Q3)

G
G
G
G

25
32
179
63
3
54
14

G

153

48.4% (2017 12)

G

108

4% (2017 12)

G

132

70.6% (2018 02)

G

7% (2017 12)

68 (17-18 Q3)
58 (17-18 Q3)
54.5% (2017)
94.4% (2017-18 Q3)
73% (2015)
8.9 (2016)

40% (16-17 Q4)
80% (16-17 Q4)
100% (16-17 Q4)

145
8
49
16
132
52
148
122
171
184
166
141
118
126
92
92
40

66 (17-18 Q3)
66.7% (2016-17)
0.56% (2016-17)
2.7 (2015)
81.9 (2017)
63.3 (2017)
14% (17-18 Q3)
66.4% (2018 02)
76.5% (2016-17)
3,131 (17-18 Q2)
78% (2018 03)
12.9 (2018 02)
489.1 (17-18 Q2)
84% (2017)
81.0% (2018 01)
1.0 (2017 09)
92.2% (2018 02)
0.0% (2016-17)

41

3.7% (17-18 Q3)

52

77.2% (2018 01)
Fully Compliant
(17/18 Q3)
3.9 (2016)

Red (17/18 Q3)

27
11
58

0.06 (2016)
73.0 (2016/17)
Amber (17/18 Q3)
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1.2.5

Financial Performance

Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
Act Section

223H(1)*
223I(2)

223I(3)

223J(1)

223J(2)

223J(3)

Duty

Expenditure not to exceed
income
Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified
in Directions
Revenue resource use does
not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Capital resource use on
specified matter(s)does not
exceed the amount specified
in Directions
Revenue resource use on
specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified
in Directions
Revenue administration
resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in
Directions

Maximum
performance
£000s (2017-18 £x)

Duty Achieved?

152,373

N

0

Y

151,336

N

0

Y

12,991

N

2,019

Y

System Control Total
NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG together with local providers Mid
Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust were supported by the Capped Expenditure Process, with a challenge of meeting a
system wide deficit control total of £3.500 million. The CCGs were given a joint deficit control
total of £4.350 million (NHS Vale Royal CCG – £2.850m, NHS South Cheshire CCG –
£1.500m).
The system has worked collaboratively and delivered a system wide deficit of circa £1.500
million for 2017/18, whilst the CCGs achieved a joint deficit of circa £8.000 million. This is a
delivery of £11.600 million savings (circa 3.0%) within the CCGs and an equal level of cost
saving being delivered within the local providers.
Risk Reserve
As set out in the 2017/18 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 0.5 percent
reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that CCGs
were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently.
This reserve has been released improving the CCG’s financial position by £0.652m.
Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay all
valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed
contract terms. Details of compliance with the code are given in Note 6 of the financial
statements.
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Prompt Payments
The CCG is signed up to the principles of the Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was
devised by the government with The Institute of Credit Management to tackle the crucial issue
of late payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any company
that signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and that there is a
proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.
Financial Highlights
Our main financial highlights are as follows:
• The total resource allocated in 2017/18 to NHS Vale Royal CCG was £146.799m (this
includes £12.840m allocated for Delegated Primary Care).
Financial Efficiency Savings
The CCG has delivered £5.212m of efficiency savings. This is a savings total of 3.6% of
overall allocated resource.
Capital Expenditure
The CCG received no capital allocations during the year.
Administrative Running Costs
The total running cost allocation for the year was £2.190m. The expenditure reported against
this budget in 2017/18 was £2.019m.
Cash Flow
The CCG has managed its cash effectively over the year, not spending more than its cash
resource allocation. At the end of the year, a cash book balance of £77,210 was carried
forward, within the stipulated allowance of £115,875.

1.2.6 Working with partners / contributing to joint strategies
As a CCG, we recognise that it is how we work with our partners that will really make a
difference to the health outcomes of our population. We work in partnership with a number of
other organisations and agencies. Over the last year we have further developed and
strengthened our relationships across Cheshire and beyond. As a CCG we are accountable
to NHS England, and work closely with the NHS England Area Team (covering Cheshire and
Merseyside). The NHS England Area Team regularly seeks assurance from us regarding our
commissioning responsibilities. Through these meetings and regular contact we have built
successful relationships and we will continue to need to work closely with NHS England in
order to meet the significant challenges to come.
We collaborate with neighbouring CCGs in Cheshire, our providers and our local authority,
Cheshire West and Chester Council. During the last year we have continued to co-operate,
pool resources, and work together to best meet the needs of our local communities.
There is strong partnership working locally and effective working relationships have been
developed. This is supported by:
• Regular meetings between the CCG Chairs and Chair of the acute trust
• Regular executive to executive meetings with acute trust, mental health trust and the GP
alliance
• Board to board meetings between the acute trust’s Board and the CCGs’ Governing
Bodies
• GP / Consultant sessions to promote relationships between clinicians within the local
system
• Joint workshops to discuss CEP plans and agree priorities and actions
• Regular meetings between the Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance for the
Cheshire and Mersey Health and Social Care Partnership (CMHSCP)
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As described elsewhere in this document, CCG officers and members are heavily engaged in
supporting system transformation and the themes for the CMHSCP:
• The Accountable Officer and NHS South Cheshire CCG Chair’s leading roles in the
development of the integrated care partnership (ICP) and pan-Cheshire commissioning
• NHS Vale Royal’s supporting role in developing the Connecting Care Programme and
transition to the combined programme board across central and Eastern Cheshire
• The NHS Vale Royal CCG Chair’s role in Chairing the Joint Commissioning Committee;
• Joint working at Governing Body/Board level to deliver transformation via the CEP
• Joint working of executives via the CEP/Connecting Care Executive groups to drive
delivery of the transformation agenda
• Joint working of finance leads on finance, estates and ICT
• The CCG’s lead role in developing a Clinical Engagement Strategy and the associated OD
work with system partners to facilitate joint working
• The Governing Body’s role in leading discussions with local authority partners and other
system leaders to develop a solution that will work across both local authority areas
• Partnership working with the GP Alliance to develop the care communities model of local
delivery
We have supported development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) which
informs local health and wellbeing strategies and examples of our collaborative approach to
delivering joint strategies are included throughout this report. The CCG plays an active role
on the Health and Wellbeing Board and the CCG’s Clinical Chair is Deputy Chair of the Board.
As a CCG we have actively contributed to the development and delivery of joint health and
wellbeing strategies and work closely with our colleagues in health and social care.
The CCG’s commissioning intentions and strategic priorities are aligned to the Cheshire West
and Chester Health and Wellbeing Strategy’s Priority Areas of “Starting Well”, “Living Well”,
“Mental Health and Wellbeing” and “Ageing Well”. They also support the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy approach/principles around “reducing health inequalities”, “prevention and
early detection”, “partnership working”, “evidence-based” action and “personal responsibility
and empowerment” - these are delivered via the CCG’s activities, commissioning intentions
and strategies, as described elsewhere in this report.
Work which supported delivery of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy that was discussed with
partners at the Health and Wellbeing Board, included:
• Working Together – An integrated Health and Care System for Cheshire
• Integrated Approach to Supporting Carers: Carers Memorandum of Understanding and
action plan
• Recommissioning of Adult Public Health Services
• Starting Well services for the Under 19s
• Developments in Mental Health Services
• Delayed Transfers of Care Update
• Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
• Local Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report
• Cheshire West and Chester Health Improvement Strategy
Regular reports on the development of an integrated health and care system for Cheshire
have been considered at the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Cheshire East Health and
Wellbeing Board noted in January 2018 that “Progress in developing a Joint Commissioning
Committee for the four CCGs of Eastern Cheshire, South Cheshire, West Cheshire and Vale
Royal, was an important part of work being undertaken towards the development of integrated
health and social care systems across the County”.
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We consulted our stakeholders, including the Health and Wellbeing Board, on our
performance and level of engagement in developing and delivering joint strategies via the
Annual 360o Survey. When asked - “How active, if at all, would you say the CCG is as a
member of the Health and wellbeing board?” - the response was “Very Active”.
The Health and Wellbeing Board also provided positive responses to the following
questions/statements:
• “Overall, how would you rate the effectiveness of your working relationship with the CCG?”
• “The leadership of the CCG is contributing effectively to local partnership arrangements
(including Sustainability Transformation Partnerships (STPs), Accountable Care Systems
(ACSs) where applicable and/or other local partnership arrangements).”
• “How effective, if at all, do you feel the CCG is as a local system leader?”
• “The Connecting Care Strategy for Central Cheshire is being driven locally with the CCG
demonstrating strong leadership”
The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a programme spanning both the NHS and local government
which seeks to join-up health and care services, so that people can manage their own health
and wellbeing, and live independently in their communities for as long as possible.
The BCF has been created to improve the lives of some of the most vulnerable people in our
society, placing them at the centre of their care and support, and providing them integrated
health and social care services, resulting in an improved experience and better quality of life.
We have agreed the Better Care Fund (BCF) and Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) with
local authority partners and these have been signed off at the Health and Wellbeing Board
and A&E Delivery Board.
We and our partners are committed to further explore the opportunities afforded via the Better
Care Fund to further integrate health and social care, to promote health and wellbeing and
improve the health outcomes of the local population across our care communities.

1.2.7

Improving Quality

The CCG has a Quality and Safeguarding Strategy that has been ratified by the Governing
Body. A refreshed Strategy was presented to the Governing Body in April 2017. The Strategy
summarises the CCGs’ approach: “The Quality and Safeguarding strategy communicates our
vision and ambitions for quality which includes strengthening partnership working and greater
patient and public involvement, ensuring service user experience really is a core component of
quality monitoring and service development. The strategy explains how we will deliver our
vision and the outcome measures that the CCG will use to measure success.
The CCG has a quality assurance framework which enables the CCG to identify, monitor and
challenge the quality of commissioned services. This helps to ensure the best possible care is
provided for people in South Cheshire and Vale Royal. This is achieved in a number of ways,
including monitoring quality standards in contracts with provider organisations, triangulating
data from contract monitoring; outcome statistics; for example mortality rates, healthcare
acquired infection, patient and staff feedback, undertaking quality visits, reviewing all
information available, national and local to highlight areas of good practice and areas for
improvement”.
The CCG’s governance structure ensures there are clear lines of accountability and risks and
concerns are escalated appropriately and openly. The Quality and Performance Committee
(previously known as the Quality and Safety Committee), Governance and Audit Committee,
Clinical Commissioning Executive and Finance and Turnaround Committee (previously known
as the Finance and Performance Committee) all have quality surveillance mechanisms built
into their terms of reference. There is also an Incidents and Complaints sub-group which
reports into the Quality and Performance Committee.
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There is a dedicated Quality and Performance Committee which reports to the Governing
Body. The Committee considers reports that include a wealth of quality data which
triangulates hard and soft intelligence from a range of sources, such as:
• Highlighting areas of good practise
• Current performance and underperformance in the quality, safety and experience of
commissioned services, concerns and issues raised by Clinical & Professional Senate,
reported Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections, NHS Improvement (NHSI) updates
• Cost improvement plan issues in provider services
• CCG Quality Premium performance;
• Contractual performance (Quality Schedule and CQUIN)
• Clinical workforce issues
• Implementation of National Investigation Report findings
The Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding provides a report to Governing Body at
every meeting. This report combines quality and performance data and intelligence to escalate
concerns and good practice to the Governing Body.
Every Governing Body meeting begins with a patient story. This reinforces the centrality of
quality and patient experience to every decision made by the Governing Body. The minutes of
the Governing Body and the CCG sub committees demonstrate the continual challenge
around the quality aspects of every aspect of the CCGs business. Lay members play a key
role as quality champions on the Governing Body and undertake regular quality visits.
Any written paper to the CCGs formal committees requires the author to have considered the
quality aspects of their proposal and for this to be signed off by an executive director following
appropriate clinical input. This ensures that there is a continual ‘prompt’ when writing papers.
Quality and Equality Impact Assessments are undertaken for all work programmes which are
then presented at the Quality Impact Assessment group (a sub-group to the Quality and
Performance Committee) which includes lay members. The purpose of this process is to
ensure that all clinical project and programmes are assessed to ensure that quality and patient
experience are at the heart of everything that we do as CCGs.
The CCG reviewed and revised its process for developing project proposals and prioritising
activity during the year. The three critical questions to be addressed when developing a
mandate are:
• Does it improve or maintain patient outcomes?
• Does it deliver cost savings or is it cost-neutral?
• Is there evidence that it is deliverable?
Quality and equality impact assessments are carried out for each proposed area of change.
Changes to pathways, or other significant changes, are also reviewed by the Patient and
Professional Senate.
A number of potential CEP projects have been considered and rejected on the grounds of
adverse quality impacts. These included: Halting non-urgent Elective Care for January
through to March 2018; Stopping all non-urgent Individual Funding Requests; Removal of All
Agency Staff at MCHFT. Other projects have been approved but have been modified, such as
a review of third sector grants.
The established Patient and Professional Senate (PPS) has patient and carer membership
along with clinicians and professionals. This has continued to be embedded as part of the
commissioner/ provider development cycle. Pathway development and re-design within the
CEP and areas for consideration identified from Right Care data are presented and discussed
at the Senate and members are focused on the Triple aim of:
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• Care Quality
• Health and Wellbeing
• Funding and Efficiency;
The Patient and Professional Senate has used an interactive format to appropriately confirm
and challenge individual pathways and programmes and is working to review its approach to
engagement so that the right patients, carers and clinicians are engaged with the right
pathways and programmes.
Providers attend all incidents and complaints reviews to ensure that lessons are learned and
improvements delivered.
Quality is central to both commissioning and decommissioning decisions. The CCGs’
decommissioning policy operates on the principle that “Detailed consideration must be given
to the broad-ranging adverse impact of the decommissioning decision including quality and
equality impact assessments”.
We have worked with partners on a joint specification and quality measure with the two local
authorities on care homes and domiciliary care and are working to implement a joint learning
disabilities (LD) and mental health (MH) framework.
Practice nurse council membership and assembly continue to be a strong forum to implement
‘leading change, adding value’, working together have secured funding as an enhanced
training hub which is seeing increased numbers of Student nurses coming into practice. This
has led to two practices offering General Practice nurse roles to newly qualified nurses. The
CCG employs two practice nurse quality leads who support development of quality in practice,
development of the General Practice Nursing workforce and influence in relation to achieving
the CCG clinical priorities and those identified with the IAF.
There is regular discussion and intelligence sharing with partners on quality issues:
• There have been 6 weekly tele-conferences with CQC and NHSI to discuss provider
performance. These were changed to quarterly face to face meetings and a Terms of
Reference has been agreed, although the practicalities of meeting with the key
stakeholders has proven a challenge, there is a commitment to review how this
communication can continue. Quality Leads for NHS South Cheshire, Vale Royal, West
Cheshire, Eastern Cheshire and Wirral CCGs meet on a regular basis to discuss
performance / quality issues at CWP
• Regular one to one meetings are held with quality leads at Stoke CCG to discuss
performance / quality issues at University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust
• The Chief Nurses / Directors of Nursing meet regularly across Cheshire and Merseyside
• The CCGs report to and attend the regional Quality Surveillance Group
"Central Cheshire Generic Local Quality Requirements" are built into provider contracts – this
includes requirements around reporting and learning from complaints and patient feedback.
The CCG has strong processes in place for monitoring and acting on a range of information
about quality:
• Regular Quality and Performance meetings with Providers where the Providers present
their quality, patient experience and Governance report
• A strong Serious Incidents Process which includes clinical reviews of all Root Cause
Analysis (RCA)s and providers come to a Serious Incident and Complaints group on a
monthly basis to present RCAs and Action plans that are ready for closure
• A programme of quality visits enables the CCG to work with Providers and the local
authorities to gain real time evidence of quality and to enable timely action on concerns
raised. This is a person centred approach

33

•
•

•

Healthwatch sit on the Quality and Performance Committee as a partner and present a
monthly report
The CCGs have been developing systems and processes for assuring quality of care
homes with both Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West and Chester Council. The
CCGs have regular quality assurance meetings with both councils, the CQC and
Healthwatch to discuss quality of care homes and attend joint quality assurance visits to
the care homes. Care Home Forums have been effective in both Cheshire East and
Cheshire West and Chester and the CCGs are working with both Councils to find the best
way to utilise these. Currently, the CCG is working with Cheshire East Council to look at a
joint appointment that will be shared between the CCG Quality team and Cheshire East
Council Quality team. This will enable a more streamlined approach and reduce
duplication of work
Professional concerns are reported to the CCG in a number of ways and these are
collated and responded to proportionately. Concerns raised regarding Primary Care are
shared with NHS England who may then support the CCG to investigate as appropriate

A Primary Care Quality Dashboard is in place which triangulates a range of information about
quality from a number of sources, such as the IAF, complaint themes, performance targets
etc. This will enable the CCGs to monitor and act on information in a more timely and efficient
way.
The CCGs work with CCG, Local Authority and Healthwatch colleagues to compile joint
exception reports to the Regional Quality Surveillance Group.
The CCGs work collaboratively with our partners to assure quality and to conduct quality
visits. For example, a quality review of North West Ambulance Service Trust (NWAS) is
underway with the local acute Trust, NWAS and the CCGs.
A joint plan with Cheshire CCGs, CEC and CWAC together with MCHFT and CWP is in train
to reduce the number of Gram Negative Ecoli Bacteraemia. It is recognised that this is a
system priority and a deep dive of the data was undertaken prior to a system workshop on 28
March 2018 to achieve the plan.
Delivery of the Red Bag Scheme has been achieved as part of the Enhanced Care in Care
Homes initiatives. This has been achieved by the CCG hosting a series of workshops with the
Acute Trust, NWAS and Care Homes to plan and implement the scheme. It is hoped that the
scheme will improve the quality of care and patient experience of those in care homes that are
transferred to hospital and to assist a smooth and faster discharge back to the home.
The Quality Premium scheme is intended to reward Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs)
for improvements in the quality of the services that they commission and for associated
improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities.
The 2017/18 scheme has been designed to retain a focus on the fundamentals of everyday
commissioning. These include the delivery of the NHS Constitution commitments on Referrals
to Treatment (RTT) Times, Accident and Emergency (A&E), ambulance and cancer waiting
times; adhering to quality regulatory standards and delivering financial balance. For payment
under the Scheme, CCGs are required to meet certain financial gateways. The CCG’s deficit
position means that this will not be achieved but performance against the measures in the
Scheme, at February 2018 (year to date) was:
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A “Collaborative Strategic Plan for Palliative and End of Life Care 2016-2019” has been
developed for Cheshire, engagement with partners had taken place and four strategic
priorities have been identified:
• Advance Care Planning (ACP)
• Electronic Palliative Care Communication Systems (EPaCCS)
• Care Coordination
• Community Development
A Pan Cheshire Steering Group and series of working groups have been set up to discuss
these priority areas with partners.
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1.2.8

Engaging people and communities

Engaging the people we serve and their communities are at the heart of how the CCG develop
and transform services for better outcomes for patients. The CCG works in partnership across
local communities to ensure the best quality of care is provided for the best value.
What we do…
Our aim:
To work in partnership across local communities to provide
care
Our action:
To ensure the best quality care is provided for the best
value, through innovation and collaboration
Our impact:
For local communities to experience better health, receive
safe and joined up care and be empowered to support their
own health
Our Connecting Care strategic vision outlines our
transformational approach to the integration of health and
social care in Central Cheshire…
‘Connecting Care in communities to ensure good
quality, personal, seamless support in a timely, efficient
way to improve health and wellbeing’

Our
communications
and
engagement vision:
“Working together, we can be
outstanding by
communicating and sharing in
an open and honest way,
empowering our local
communities by giving an
opportunity for each
individual to be involved and
making engagement
meaningful and valuable.”

The future of healthcare locally and nationally is changing. The NHS is at a crossroads and
now more than ever we need to make sure that the decisions we’re taking are the right
decisions for the local people of Central Cheshire.
We want to make sure that the way we work with our patients and population is effective,
delivering the best support and involvement for the CCG but also ensuring that the important
and key issues and priorities for our local patients are being listened to and acted on
Engagement and involvement
Engagement refers to the process of giving people - our patients, public and stakeholders the opportunity to be involved in and to influence the healthcare in their local area, ensuring
their voices are heard and their thoughts are taken into consideration; ensuring ‘no decision
about me, without me’.
Individual participation: By placing patients, their carers and families in the driving
seat of their own healthcare we can support them to ensure they have the
confidence to take individual ownership and make informed and considered
shared decisions.

Public participation: Our patients, public and stakeholders are the heart of
everything we do and by giving them a voice they have the ability to be able to
shape and drive local healthcare and by working collaboratively communities
can better have efficient services built and developed around them.
Insight and feedback: Listening is key, capturing and sharing patient
stories provides insight and influences decision making, giving us the
opportunity to understand the needs of our local population and provide
services that our communities really want.
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Communications
How do our patients, public and stakeholders know about the work we’re doing and our
priorities, aims and ambitions if we do not communicate with them?

External communications means that we have tailored the message and the
channel to one that best fits each individual audience. We will look at digital and
social media as well as more traditional media.

It means we have offered a way to engage in a two way conversation and that
when we have taken the time to get this right it’s because the time is right and
what we have to say is relevant. We won’t use jargon, acronyms or
complicated terms; we’ll ensure that we’re telling it in a simple, open and
transparent way.
Our approach to communications has developed in line with our ongoing approach to
engagement and increasingly we use co-production. This co-production involves our patients,
stakeholders and third sector partners and can be seen in many of our public facing
documents.
Internal Communications: Our employees are a precious resource, they are a
key stakeholder and partner in the work that we do and the care that we deliver
to our patients and they must be treated as such.
They should be communicated with and be as engaged and involved in exactly the
same in-depth way we do our patients.

NHS Vale Royal CCG believes that effective
internal communications is at the heart of
achieving our planned outcomes and it’s
something the whole organisation is responsible
for.

Outstanding awards
It’s really important that we take time to
acknowledge and recognise when people
are delivering outstanding work and when
they’re going above and beyond to make a
difference for our patients, our local
population and the CCGs as a whole.

Effective internal communication not only
supports the CCG’s smooth running, successful
change programmes and good leadership but
also supports the empowerment of staff to lead
the way.

The Outstanding awards are the CCGs
opportunity to do just that. The Outstanding
awards are an opportunity to let colleagues
know that the work they’re doing is valued
and recognised.

Internal communications is also a critical aspect
of employee engagement, which in turn promotes
better performance, employee retention and wellbeing. Employees feel more engaged when
information flows freely and they’re aware of
organisational activities and management
decisions that affect their jobs.

To date we have had over 120 nominations
and over 20 Outstanding winners from all
areas of the CCG – a fantastic opportunity to
acknowledge how hard we’re working and to
say well done for a job well done

Staff – our most precious resource

New for 2018
The Outstanding award criteria will be
updated to reflect our new vision and
values…
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Staff survey
Each year we undertake a staff survey to ensure that the CCGs together are ‘fit for purpose’
and that our direction of travel, our culture and our ways of
working continue to be relevant and support people to do a
good job.
In 2017 58% of our total staff took the time to complete the
survey.
To ensure that our staff have the opportunity to shape and support the delivery of outcomes
and action plans an ‘away morning’ was held at Bevan House in Nantwich. It was at this event
that the findings of the survey were shared and collectively all areas of the CCG worked
together to develop clear and robust action plans to address any issues highlighted by the
survey.
The commitment was made at the December away morning to bring the organisation together
on a quarterly basis to focus on key areas and identified organisational priorities.
Key engagement scores from the 2017 staff survey (out of 5):
• Care of patients is my organisations top priority
• There are frequent opportunities for me to show initiative in my role
• I am enthusiastic when I am working
• Overall engagement score:

3.62
3.82
3.94
3.5

Staff engagement champions
To further support the ongoing development of the organisation and to reinforce the key
outcomes such as the development of robust vision and values a dedicated team of staff
engagement champions have been created. This team of champions:
• is made up of at least one representative from each directorate and come
together to collaboratively support and nurture staff engagement.
• are also taking responsibility for the next stage development and
embedding of the organisational vision and values as created in a recent
staff away morning.
• reflects the way in which the organisation is formed and has an Executive Director and a
Governing Body Lay Member as part of the membership
Internal Communications activity…
We take a ‘little and often’ approach to supporting staff engagement and internal
communications activity. Here are some examples of the work we have done:
• Seasonal staff quizzes
• Lunch and learn sessions to support and promote key pieces of
commissioning work – such as our Action on Cancer project
• ‘Time to talk’ tea and cake sessions with our GP Chairs
• Walking meeting promotion
• ‘Know your numbers’ heart fitness sessions with our partners Everybody
Leisure
• Stress management sessions supported by our mental health provider
• Twice monthly team brief sessions for cascade of key organisational information
Our approach to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
As CCGs we understand the positive impact of working
closely with our local communities.
This is not only to ensure their feedback, thoughts and
experiences are fed into our commissioning but also to ensure
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The Senate’s role includes:
• Providing advice about the areas for inquiry or collaboration, and the areas for further
analysis of current evidence and practice
• Providing credible clinical leadership by understanding the reasons why clinical services
are achieving current clinical outcomes and advising when there is potential for
improvement through significant reconfiguration of services
• Taking a proactive role in promoting and overseeing major service change, for example
advising on the complex and challenging issues that may arise from service
reconfiguration within their areas
• Providing a forum for greater coordination and integration between clinical services and
commissioners, including the wider health and social care functions
In January 2018 we reviewed our processes for the senate with patients and provider staff to
make it more inclusive and accessible to patients with lived experience.
Get involved…
Patients who engage with their individual GP practices will be offered the opportunity to be
involved at each planned Senate when they receive the future agenda. This will help identify
those with specific interest, experience or knowledge of pathways that we can call on when
needed.
We also welcome patient and public members onto the through our website, where people will
be able to see the future agenda and subsequently be able to register their interest in
attending the Senate
PPG Clusters
In April 2017 the CCG brought together the five Patient Participation Groups (PPG) from each
of the Care Community Areas to ensure that the way we work with our patients and local
PPGs is effective, delivering the best support and involvement for the CCG but also ensuring
that the important and key issues and priorities for our local patients
are being listened to and acted on locally.
It is planned that once they Care Communities are all working alike,
the PPG Cluster will be an important link between the patients at each
GP practice, the Care Community and the CCG. This gives an
independent challenge to the quality and range of local health services
that are commissioned by the CCG.
The PPG Clusters Groups is the vehicle to communicate vision/plans
from the Care Community Steering Groups and help them to provide
support to develop local services. In some areas where we have
struggled to get members from every practice in the Care Community area, we have widened
the scope for member of the PPG Cluster Group to include Local Authority staff, 3rd Sector
staff and other local interested groups by working in partnership with our CVS, Healthwatch
and U3A members to ensure the representation across the meetings is representative of the
communities as a whole.
PPG Cluster exchange
The CCG will bring the 5 PPG Cluster Groups together twice a year to
enable different PPG Clusters to share good practice and provide
examples of what does/does not work will be supported by the CCG.
VIPs – Volunteers In Participation
At NHS Vale Royal CCG we feel that it is essential for us to have the
voice of our patients heard throughout the work we do. Decisions are
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never made about local services without offering our local population the opportunity to have
their say to shape our local healthcare. To enable us to have a wider representation of the
local population we are giving people the opportunity to become a VIP.
• Members can choose how active they want to be and how they would prefer to engage
• VIPs do not need to be part of another group, they can be individual members
The more people we have signed up, the bigger the patient voice will be.
VIPs - supporting our engagement:
• Our VIPs have been an important element of our engagement, supporting us to deliver our
key messages across different audiences, communities and groups.
• VIPs have supported us at events such as university mental health day, Self-Care week
and Chester Pride.
VIPs - readers panel:
• Our VIP readers panel has advised and supported the CCG and it’s partners on many
public facing documents.
• These include strategic documents such as a consultation document to reviewing the
information that is displayed in our local GP surgeries.
VIPs - the voice of our local population:
• Our VIPs have contributed their thoughts and feedback to consultations and surveys
across health and social care to ensure that our local population has an opportunity to
shape the future of care locally
Our approach to Self Care
Empowering people with the confidence and information to look after themselves when they
can and to give our local population the options to be able to select and chose the most
appropriate and best care for them is the essence of self-care. By developing our self-care
communications and engagement approach we will give our patients greater control of their
own health and encourage healthy behaviours that help prevent ill health in the long-term.
We know from Cheshire Chat that our local population are happy to take charge and
responsibility for their own healthcare but that they don’t believe that there is enough being
done to support and educate them to take this responsibility.
Our communications and engagement approach articulates our ambition to support local
populations to self-care by giving clear and consistent messages, developing educational tools
and bringing together our local partners and organisations.
The amount of different messages, collateral and information available to support this, is vast,
which at times can be confusing to apply consistently. We have taken an approach to clearly
identify which are our key messages and which campaigns to make our primary messages.
This approach also takes into consideration commissioning priorities from across the CCGs –
such as mental health and medicines management. Alongside the communications priorities is
a supporting suite of engagement activity for our patients, public and stakeholders. This
approach has been well received and has been replicated across other local health
economies.
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Self Care week 2017: 13 to 19 November
Our ambition for Self Care Week was to make it the ‘best ever’ with our consistent Self Care
messages reaching our local populations. Introducing our local campaign to the 29 GP
practices across the area we sourced funding to produce pull-up banners to be displayed in
each practice, complimented by the leaflets for the local campaign which were in answer to the
Self Care Forums research. This allowed us to share a consistent message across practices
and at our pop up events across Central Cheshire, when delivering our Self Care Week
activities. We promoted all the events on the local Redshift Radio the week prior to and Self
Care week. We have been asked by Eastern Cheshire CCG if they can adapt and share our
Self Care campaign literature.
Linking with partners and all participating GP Practices (22/29), we planned activities in most of
our main local towns allowing access to large number footfall e.g. Winsford Asda (over 400
people) to the harder to reach area like Audlem Coffee Club where we spoke to 27 older
people.
A press release was shared with local media with outlets up the story to print and online with a
reach of 11,546. A further press release will be shared following publication of this report.
Alongside this was a social media campaign which ultimately had a reach of 164,015 people
(figures via the Clinical Support Unit from Kantar)
Our total reach to our local patients for the whole Self Care Week Campaign is 178,561.

Self Care champions
NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group feels that it is important our local patients,
population and stakeholders help us deliver self care messages to our local population.
Prior to Self Care Week we ran workshops for 57 patients to be Self Care Champions, with
some of the ‘Champions’ supporting the delivery of our messages during Self Care Week and
beyond.
All local Healthwatch staff, Cheshire East Community Development Team, End of Life
Partnership volunteers and local police have also completed the training.
Since starting the Self Care Champion workshops, we have been asked to provide bespoke
workshops for organisations and groups which has helped us to spread our key messages
through the ‘Champions’.
The workshops have evaluated very well and will be further developed to continue to help us
spread the consistent wider messages of self care which is ‘Person Centre’ driven.
Self care awards
Using previous stakeholder analysis, one of the biggest gaps we have locally through our
engagement is to our students and working populations.
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Focus on Self Care

We did…
We made Self Care our priority!
We have worked in partnership with
our local population, patients and
stakeholders to develop a full suite
and range of self care education,
empowerment and tools.
We have supported our practices to
share this knowledge with their
patient populations and we have
placed ourselves in the heart of our
community to deliver this.

Get in touch…
If you are interested in getting involved in the work of NHS South Cheshire Clinical Group and
NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group or would like to share your views on local
health services, please contact us on the following details:
NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group
Bevan House
Barony Court
Nantwich, CW5 5RQ
01270 275369
SCCCG&VRCCG.Engagement@nhs.net
@NHSValeRoyalCCG
You can find out more about us and have your say about local health services on our
websites: www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk
NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and NHS Vale Royal CCG held
their joint Annual General Meeting (AGM) at Bevan House between 18:00 and 20:00 on
Thursday 28 September 2017. This was an opportunity to keep our local patients, population
and stakeholders up to date and showcase the work that we have done over the past twelve
months, letting them know where we have spent our money working to deliver better
healthcare in our local area.
The meeting was also a chance to celebrate our achievements and to introduce our priorities
for the future.
This year’s AGM was a marketplace, allowing attendees to spend time at the individual stalls
talking to our teams to find out in detail more about our commissioning work and how we have
shaped local healthcare over the past 12 months. There was also the opportunity to see how
the work of our partners is aligned to that of the CCGs in order to deliver our Connecting Care
vision.
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2.1.2

Statement by the Interim Chief Executive, Clare Watson,
as the Accountable Officer of NHS Vale Royal CCG*

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Executive to be
the Accountable Officer of NHS Vale Royal CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
• The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:
• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,
• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure
that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and
with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance
with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows
for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting Manual
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements; and,
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below, I have
properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
*In post since September 2017.
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2.1.3
2.1.3(1)

The Governance Statement
Introduction and context

NHS Vale Royal CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1st April 2013
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of
services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1st April 2017, the clinical commissioning group was not subject to any directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. The final
headline rating for 2016/17 for NHS Vale Royal CCG was “Inadequate”. All CCGs assessed
as inadequate at year-end were placed in a reframed special measures regime. Special
measures embraced support to help CCGs improve and were not closely linked to the use of
legal directions, although the two were not mutually exclusive. At this time, no directions have
been issued to the CCG.

2.1.3(2)

Scope of responsibility

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.

2.1.3(3)

Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are
relevant to it. Key features of our CCG constitution in relation to governance are highlighted
within the Constitution and Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
During 2017/18 we reviewed and amended our Constitution to enable the creation of a Joint
Commissioning Committee with neighbouring CCGs in Cheshire (NHS Vale Royal; NHS
Eastern Cheshire; and NHS West Cheshire CCGs). On 5 December 2017 NHS England
confirmed that the proposed changes to the Constitution of NHS Vale Royal CCG complied
with the particular requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006 as amended by the
Health and Social Care Act 2012 and were otherwise appropriate. The constitution can be
viewed at: http://www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk/publication/12244-nhs-vale-royal-ccg-constitution
Information about the composition of our Membership Assembly, Governing Body and
Governance and Audit Committee can be found in the Members’ Report. Information on the
Remuneration Committee membership can be found in the Remuneration Report. Please see
appendix one for a diagram of our organisational structure.
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Information on the roles and responsibilities of the Governing Body and its Committees is
outlined below. Lay Members play a key role in providing additional scrutiny, challenge and
an independent voice in support of robust and transparent decision-making on both the
Governing Body and its Committees.
Governing Body:
The Governing Body’s overall responsibilities are to:
• ensure that the group has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the
groups principles of good governance (its main function)
• determine the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or
other persons providing services to the group, including nominated practice
representatives, and the allowances payable under a pension scheme it may
establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by
Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act
• approve any functions of the group that are specified in regulations
• with the exception of those functions reserved to the group’s Membership Assembly, to
discharge all of the groups remaining statutory functions including:
i. to lead and approve the setting of the group’s vision and strategy and its annual
commissioning and financial plans
ii. securing continuous improvement in the standards, quality and outcomes of care,
and regularly discussing and monitoring quality issues
iii. financial and risk management
iv. jointly publishing, with the group’s Membership Assembly, the group’s annual report
and annual accounts
v. where not specified in the terms of reference of the Governing Body committees,
receiving the minutes of meetings of joint or collaborative arrangements between
the group and another statutory body(ies)
During the year the Governing Body considered regular patient stories, finance updates, Chief
Executive’s updates, Executive Nurse updates, performance reports, financial recovery /
capped expenditure process updates, and quality and safeguarding reports. During the year
the Governing Body also considered updates to the Better Care Fund, a refresh of the Quality
Strategy, Children and Young people’s Mental Health Transformation Plans, a Primary Care
Charter, a Policy on Commissioning Procedures of Lower Clinical Priority, arrangements for
unified commissioning across Cheshire (including the development of a Joint Commissioning
Committee of the Cheshire CCGs) and the development of the Learning Disabilities and
Autism Spectrum Disorder programme.
Formal Governing Body papers are available on the CCG’s
website: http://www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk/governing-body/governing-body/governing-bodymeetings
Recordings of public meetings of the Governing Body can be viewed at: https://barony.publici.tv/core/portal/webcasts
Remuneration Committee:
The Remuneration Committee makes:
• recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about the remuneration, fees
and other allowances for employees and for people who provide services to the group and
on determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the group may
establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme
• The Membership Assembly and Governing Body have also delegated the following
responsibilities to the Remuneration Committee:
i. recommending proposals for succession planning for Governing Body members
ii. oversight of the group’s arrangements for the appointment of senior, staff
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ensuring that the selection and appointment processes are fair and transparent and
conform with best practice
iii. induction for Governing Body members
iv. the remuneration of nominated practice representatives, and
v. proposals for the group’s organisational development plan
Governance and Audit Committee:
The Governance and Audit Committee provides:
• the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the group’s financial
systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions
governing the group in so far as they relate to finance
• the Membership Assembly and the Governing Body have also delegated to the
Governance and Audit Committee the responsibility for:
i. reviewing the effectiveness of the system of governance, risk management and
internal control, incorporating the arrangements for the Membership Assembly
ii. the arrangements made by the group for managing conflicts of interest, whistle
blowing and fraud (both clinical and non-clinical)
Clinical Commissioning Executive:
The CCGs Clinical Commissioning Executive (CCE), which is joint group of both NHS
South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical
Commissioning Group, is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies, and ensures
that the two Clinical Commissioning Groups collaborate on areas of commissioning where
this adds value and increases efficiency. The Clinical Commissioning Executive:
• develops and recommends the group’s five year and annual commissioning plans
to the relevant Governing Body
• provides assurance to the Governing Body that the group’s commissioning intentions
and plans are effective, efficient and economic; that plans are informed by patients
and the public; that they are being delivered and that risks associated with delivery are
being mitigated
• ensures the shared management arrangements are working effectively and are
sustainable to deliver commissioning intentions for NHS South Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group
• has oversight of both groups’ annual commissioning cycles
• through supporting structures and systems ensures that there is continuous
engagement with member practices on all aspects of its work
• approves or rejects business cases, within the agreed delegated authority
Quality and Performance (previously known as Quality and Safety) Committee:
The Quality and Performance Committee is a joint committee of NHS South Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group and
provides assurance to the Governing Body that:
• quality and patient experience is central to the work of the group and that systems and
process are in place for monitoring and acting on patient feedback, in particular quality
issues such as complaints, Patient and Liaison Services, Serious Untoward Incidents and
Never Events
• services the group commissions are safe and effective, and lessons are learnt from
serious untoward incidents and never events
• there is continuous improvement in the quality of commissioned services; in
primary medical services and in patient outcomes
• that safeguarding statutory function and commissioners are being carried out
effectively at a local level
• the following sub-committees are authorised by the Governing Body and are
accountable to the committee:
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•
•

 Maternity Services Liaison Committee;
 Provider Clinical Quality & Patient Safety Review Meeting;
 Safeguarding Monitoring Meetings.
systems are in place to proactively identify and act upon early warning signs of failing
services
the group ensures its commissioning process is based upon reducing health
inequalities in access to, and the outcomes from healthcare

Primary Care Commissioning Committee:
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is a joint Committee of NHS South Cheshire
CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG and undertakes the function of commissioning a common
approach to primary medical care services for the population of South Cheshire and Vale
Royal. The Committee makes recommendation towards the commissioning of primary
medical services that:
• Reflect the local requirements and population health needs for NHS South Cheshire
CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG
• Strengthen a collaborative approach towards Primary Care Commissioning across the
CCGs
• Support the strategic ambitions of the CCGs within the Connecting Care Programme.
• Support a developmental approach of co commissioning in line with the strategic vision
of the CCGs.
Finance and Turnaround (previously known as Finance and Performance) Committee:
The Finance and Turnaround Committee is a joint committee of NHS South Cheshire and
NHS Vale Royal CCGs and provides assurance to the Governing Bodies on all financial and
performance issues (unless specifically excluded, as the assurance for elements of the
performance agenda relating to quality and safety are reviewed via the Quality Committee).
The Committee:
• Reports and provides assurance on the financial performance of the CCGs
• Reports and provides assurance on the performance of the CCG against constitutional
targets and any other associated Key Performance Indicators as specified either internally
or externally as agreed by the Governing Body e.g. Quality Premium
• Reports and provides assurance on the performance of contracts held by the CCG where
they impact on the financial performance of the CCG
• Receives the CCG budgets on an annual basis for agreement
• Reviews the financial strategy of the CCG to ensure it supports the delivery of the clinical
strategy
• Reviews all QIPP plans on a monthly basis as they relate to the financial position.
Joint Commissioning Committee of the Cheshire CCGs:
The Joint Commissioning Committee is a joint committee of NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS
Vale Royal CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and NHS West Cheshire CCG. The Committee
is responsible for exercising the following functions:
•
Delegated decision making authority for recommendations made by NHS Cheshire and
Merseyside for adoption across Cheshire, as outlined with the Committees Annual
Workplan and CCG Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
•
Strategic oversight and development of the workplan for the establishment of unified
health commissioning across Cheshire, providing recommendations for adoption to CCG
Governing Bodies and endorsement by Health and Wellbeing Boards
•
Delegated decision making authority on commissioning services at scale, as outlined with
the Committees Annual Workplan and CCG Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.

Membership Assembly performance and assessment of effectiveness
The Membership Assembly has continued to help shape the priority areas for the CCG during
2017/18 to focus on the needs of our patients within our locality, based on the priority areas of
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the CCG and the national health agendas and guidance. We have contributed active debate
and discussion to the ongoing development of our CCG. We are aware of the significant
challenges ahead that the Five Year Forward View present. We are confident that, with our
partners, we can commission patient centred, high quality services for our patient population
that will improve health outcomes locally.

Governing Body performance and assessment of effectiveness
Our Governing Body, on behalf of the Membership Assembly, has ensured the CCG is well
managed and has met its statutory duties during this year. The Governing Body has a good
working relationship with the Membership Assembly in order to shape the future vision for the
CCG.
Our Governing Body has ensured the delivery of clinical leadership and involvement which
means that the patient remains at the heart of everything we do and that patient services
remain at a high quality. The Governing Body has received regular update reports regarding
the CCG’s financial performance during the course of the financial year. Discussions have
involved both clinicians and Lay Members who have provided constructive challenge and
debate in the continuous monitoring of the CCG’s financial position.
Through scrutiny of quality and performance data Governing Body have challenged outcomes
for the population of Vale Royal. Governing Body Lay Members and clinicians have worked
jointly with CCG staff and providers to focus on the patient journey, quality, experience and
outcomes.
As described elsewhere in this report, a key area of focus for the CCG during the year has
been working with partners to deliver a sustainable health care system via the Capped
Expenditure Process (CEP). The Process was supported by NHSE and NHSI and this has
been taken up enthusiastically locally as the way to improve the local health and social care
system for patients whilst remaining within budget. The CEP has been extremely successful
in improving cross-system working and reducing barriers. This has delivered significant
efficiencies and financial savings whilst maintaining performance in respect of quality. The
CEP has put in place the relationships from which an integrated care partnership will be
developed.
The local providers and the CCG have developed plans over the year to save £20 million
across the South Cheshire and Vale Royal health economy. This is a key success which has
been driven by the need for transformational change and the reduction in system cost. The
partners in the CEP have met regularly over 2017/18 to drive forward the changes. The
system continues to face a significant financial challenge but is better place to address this via
the current working arrangements.
The Governing Body has had a comprehensive programme of reviews and reports on agreed
priorities throughout the year. This work has focused on strategic priorities and key issues
identified within the Board Assurance Framework.
The Governing Body has had a good working relationship with both internal and external
auditors throughout the year and both attend the Governance and Audit Committee on a
regular basis.
We have been keen to increase visibility of our Governing Body meetings and have installed a
“public i” system in our Conference Suite at Bevan House which allows the meetings to be
broadcast live. The system can be accessed athttps://barony.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts
The website also contains recordings of previous Governing Body meetings. This has made
our meetings more accessible to a greater number of people than was previously the case.

60

Although by nature FOI request subject matter varies greatly, the most commonly occurring
categories of request related to the following:
• Contracts and Tenders – 122 requests
• Commissioning – 104 requests
• CCG Expenditure – 76 requests
The CCG has not received any complaints or requests for review of the CCG’s FOI responses
from applicants. The CCG has not received any complaints or investigations from the
Information Commissioners Office (ICO) in respect of the CCGs management of requests
made under the FOI Act.

2.1.3(4)

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. Our Corporate
Governance arrangements are set out at section 2.1.3(3) this report.

2.1.3(5)

Discharge of Statutory Functions

During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input,
to ensure compliance with the all-relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the
matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directors
have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to
undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

2.1.3(6)

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness

The CCG has in place a strategy for the management of risk as part of its overall governance
arrangements. The strategy provides a comprehensive guide to the CCG’s approach to risk
management, outlining committee and individual responsibilities. Key to this strategy is setting
out processes to identify risks to the organisation’s objectives and develop plans and actions
to address them. This is then driven forward by ensuring that there is continued and objective
monitoring both internally and via the CCG committee structure.
The aim is not to create a risk free environment, but one where risk is identified and managed
as a matter of course within the risk appetite of the CCG and where risk management is
embedded in all aspects of the work of the CCG.
There is a full suite of Risk Management and Board Assurance documents which are reviewed
monthly. Risks and issues facing the CCG during the year were captured in the Board
Assurance Framework (BAF) and the BAF report is taken to the Governing Body on a monthly
basis. The Risk Register is scrutinised at the Governance and Audit Committee at each
meeting. The Governing Body agenda is cross referenced to the BAF to ensure that all risks
which are endangering the key objectives of the CCG are being addressed. The 2017/18 BAF
has also been aligned to the better health, better care, sustainability and leadership domains
of the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) to better identify risks to the
delivery of key performance indicators.
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The programme management office approach has helped to solidify the risk management
process and ensure it is considered by staff at all levels in their day-to-day work. Quality
Impact Assessments, Equality impact assessments, privacy impact assessments and risk logs
are a standard part of all projects and pieces of work and risks identified at a project level are
escalated, as appropriate, through the directorates to the corporate risk register.
Risks can be identified from a number of sources including staff identifying risks; via
committees; incidents; patient, public and stakeholder feedback; complaints and incidents;
external assessments and audits; programme and project management and general operation
activity.
All risks are assigned a relevant executive owner who has overall accountability, with an
operational manager responsible for overseeing the effective management of each risk.
Risk scores up to 10 are viewed as acceptable to be managed at a directorate level. Risks
scored 12 and above are discussed at directorate level and escalated where appropriate if
significant to the overall business of the CCG.
Policies are in place around health and safety, emergency planning, whistleblowing,
information governance and incident reporting, all of which contribute to the overall
management of risk within the organisation. Training has taken place during the year around
privacy impact assessments, quality impact assessments and equality impact assessments,
public engagement and consultation and risk management.
The CCG has local counter-fraud services in place provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency.

2.1.3(7)

Capacity to Handle Risk

The following key areas describe our approach:
• Leadership is given to the risk management process – The CCG has ensured that risk
management processes have been embedded throughout the CGG, with clear direction
and oversight from the Governing Body and the Executive Team. The responsibility for
risk management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from governing body members,
directors and to all managers and staff. Risks are regularly reported to Governance and
Audit Committee, Quality and Performance Committee and escalated as appropriate to
Governing Body. Our Executives have clear responsibilities and understand their role in
implementing the effective approach towards how the CCG handles risk. Risks are
regularly reviewed by the Senior Management Team and the Executive Team, with risks
being escalated as appropriate. The introduction of the Programme Management Office
has given additional clarity to risk management, with clear reporting lines from project and
programme level through to senior management, Clinical Commissioning Executive and
onwards to Governance & Audit Committee and Quality & Performance Committee and
ultimately Governing Body
• Our Staff – Our staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their
authority and duties. Training has been provided to staff as an integral part of the
establishment of the programme management office, with additional support and advice
being provided internally to anyone who requires it. Role specific training has been
provided to the members of the risk management team to ensure they are fully up-to-date
with current best practice and equipped to offer advice and guidance throughout the CCG.
Compliance with statutory and mandatory training at 31 March 2018 stood at 81%

2.1.3(8)

Risk Assessment

The CCG’s risk management framework, including the role of the Governing Body, is
described above. The biggest risks recorded on the CCG’s Corporate Risk Register and
presented to the CCG’s Governance and Audit Committee in March 2018 were:

63

• Validity – Data will be collected and used in compliance with internal and external
requirements, to ensure consistency and it reflects the intended requirements.
• Reliability – Data is collected and processed consistently and in accordance with our
defined processes to ensure that any changes in data are genuinely reflective of the
activities represented;
• Timeliness – Data is collected as promptly as possible after the associated activity and be
available for use within a reasonable timeframe;
• Relevance – Data collected should be relevant for the purposes for which they are
obtained;
• Completeness – Data should be complete and as comprehensive as necessary to provide
an accurate representation of the activity concerned and meet the information needs of the
customer.
All of the organisation’s main providers are required under their contract to have good quality
data that is compliant with national standards and the CCG undertakes validation processes to
ensure data is complete, accurate, relevant and timely. This is undertaken by the Business
Intelligence Team, who are part of the Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit
(CSU).
Regular reports are also provided on the CCG’s performance against NHS England’s
Improvement and Assessment Framework. The accuracy and quality of these reports was
assessed by MIAA during the year and they provided a “Significant Assurance” report.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients, the public and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the
clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information
is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. It is a requirement for NHS public
sector organisations to achieve a level 2. As a CCG we have achieved Level 2 at 91%.
We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance policies and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual mandatory information governance
training and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure employees
are aware of their roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. With
the support of the CSU IG team, an information risk culture has been embedded throughout
the organisation.
Business Critical Models
I confirm an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance
of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Our business critical models and processes have been identified as risk assurance and risk
management, financial and resources control, contracting and procurement processes, policy
planning, forecasting and commissioning of health services, quality assurance processes,
business management and corporate processes and governance arrangements.
The CCG has embedded effective Quality Assurance (QA) within governance processes
throughout 2017/18. This has been delivered through the Board Assurance and Risk
Management Frameworks (described elsewhere in this report) and the development of the
Programme Management Office. The approach to QA can be grouped under three headings:
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• Culture
• Capacity
• Control
Culture:
Clear leadership from Governing Body members and Membership Assembly to accept risk
and develop a ‘no blame’ culture and willingness to learn lessons. The ‘no blame’ culture
encourages transparency to collaborate and learn from our mistakes e.g. the current Board
Assurance Framework has been adopted by the Governing Body and is owned by the whole
organisation at all levels.
Capacity:
We have used expertise in-house through our clinical leadership model and expert skills of our
staff i.e. safeguarding/financial and contracting skills. However, we have recognised our
limitations of capacity and used external expertise to ensure quality assurance e.g.
procurement from CSU, internal audit and counter-fraud services from MIAA, OD support from
an external provider and external clinical reviews from AQuA. The CCG has also participated
in Wave 1 of NHS England’s Commissioning Capability Programme. The ‘Delivering today’
(improvements under the CCGIAF) element of the programme concentrated on supporting
CCGs currently in special measures. In parallel, work was done to develop the required
content for the ‘Preparing for the future’ (ACS capability support)” element of the programme.
Control:
We have a model of clinical leadership for quality and commissioning programmes i.e.
Transformation & Commissioning; Quality & Safeguarding plus Finance & Performance areas.
There is also clinical and executive ownership of the Clinical Priority Areas identified in the
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework. This gives strong accountability to the
Membership and the Governing Body.
The Board Assurance Framework is owned by the Governing Body on behalf of our
membership to ensure mitigation of risk and scrutiny of relevant issues. Risks are identified by
all members of the CCG, owned by Commissioning Leads and corporate risks are presented
to Governance and Audit Committee (and Governing Body) on a regular basis.
Pension Obligations
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and
that member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the
timescales detailed in the regulations.
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with
the required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010.
Third Party Assurances
Assurance on Information Governance and Counter Fraud arrangements are sought from
Healthcare providers. We have received risk stratification assurance statements from
Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU), who provide our business
intelligence and HR support services, and Arden & Greater East Midlands (GEM)
Commissioning Support Unit, who provide our DSCRO service. These assurance statements
have been submitted to NHS England.
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2.1.3(10)

Control Issues

The financial position is a control issue facing the CCG. The CCG breached its revenue
resource limit achieving a deficit of (£4.537m) against an original plan of (£2.850m). The main
reason for this deterioration is the inclusion of the financial pressure for drugs on the No
Cheaper Stock Obtainable (NCSO) list. The CCG achieved £5.212m of savings against its
allocation as part of efficiency savings, this represents 3.6% of total resource allocation.
The CCG is breaching the A&E 4 hour target of 95%. The majority of the CCG's A&E activity
is undertaken by MCHFT. The Trust has an agreed trajectory in line with the STF but it has
failed to achieve the target in Q3. The A&E delivery plan remains a key focus of the contract
meetings between SCCCG and MCHFT and at the A&E Delivery Board. A number of key
initiatives have been put in place:
• A Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) plan.
• ED front door streaming.
• In conjunction with Local Authority the British Red Cross discharge support is being funded
recurrently.
• A frailty ward is now in place and a new pathway agreed.
• There are now direct links with the 111 clinical hub to ensure patients are streamed out
into primary care to reduce the number of attendances. If this was not in place, we would
have had higher number of attendances this year.
• Falls rapid response service has been established resulting in an overall reduction in
conveyance to ED for falls by a further 35%.
52 week waits - The CCG had 3 patients waiting over 52 weeks (at February 2018): University
Hospital North Midlands NHS Trust (UHNM) 2, Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust 1.
• The Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) Business Intelligence (BI) team provide regular
monitoring on RTT waits including information on patients who are close to breaching.
• The Associate Director for Provider Performance has written to the respective Trusts for
assurance that patients have subsequently been treated or are due to be treated and that
they have suffered no adverse harm due to the delays.
Cancer - All cancer targets were met year to date with the exception of patients seen within
two weeks for an urgent referral for breast symptoms, where the performance is 83% against
the 93% target. This was due to capacity issues as MCHFT had two breast radiologists retire
just before Christmas. The Trust has advertised and is interviewing soon to replace these
posts. Breast radiologists are a difficult professional group to recruit to. In the interim they
have now secured locum cover and some additional support from the breast radiologists from
Chester. This will support getting this performance target back on track. The Trust has been
very carefully triaging all 2 week wait breast and breast symptomatic referrals received and
ensured that the suspected cancers are prioritised and seen within the performance standard.
Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) - The CCG has performed below
trajectory for most of the year though performance improved significantly during Quarter 4
(when the quarterly target was achieved):
• An action plan is updated monthly and monitored by the CCGs.
• Regular meetings take place between the CCGs and the service managers.
• Monthly returns to NHSE to monitor IAPT performance continue and regular meetings with
CWP IAPT team continue.
• Proposed additional investment for 2018/19 agreed from 5 Year Forward View (5YFV)
plans.
• The CCG is working with NHSE via the Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies –
NHS England Support Offer. As part of this offer, the CCG will receive support from
Insight Healthcare, a local and third sector IAPT provider whom NHSE have engaged in
order to deliver practical support in the delivery of the 5YFV for adult IAPT. This will
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involve dedicated support from three clinicians who are able to work operationally to
support services for the duration of the project.
An Information Governance Breach was reported to Information Commissioners Office.
Information relating to 1 member of staff was inadvertently shared by CSU HR with another
CCG. The information shared related to sickness absence, so whilst not strictly sensitive
personal data, it was felt that this should be reported as a level two incident. The member of
staff affected has been informed verbally by a line manager or member of the HR team,
followed up with a letter from the CSU. An investigation into the incident was carried out and
recommendations to improve processes were made.
The CCG was rated "Inadequate" in the 2016/17 Improvement and Assessment Framework
(IAF) assessment. NHSE identified that "The prime challenge for the CCG is its financial
position" and "A related challenge for the CCG is its relationship with its main acute provider."
Mitigations in place include:
• The CCG agreed a block contract with main acute provider MCHFT and is forecast to
deliver £6.250m of QIPP.
• The CCG has entered a capped expenditure process (CEP) with MCHFT to manage
finances across the system. This has greatly improved the relationship between the CCG
and main acute provider.
• Relationship have been strengthened throughout the respective organisations to jointly
develop and implement service improvements:
 a series of "Board to Board" meetings are planned to facilitate "joined-up" working
across the system
 the CCG Chair is in regular contact with the provider FT Chair and the medical director
 the AO and CFO work closely with their counterparts at the provider FT
 CCG clinicians work closely with clinical colleagues at the provider FT
 close joint working between the CCG executive team and their colleagues at the
provider FT
 close joint working between CCG service delivery managers and others working with
colleagues at the provider FT
• The CCG continues to focus on the clinical aspects of the IAF through regular review and
clear sponsorship, including clinical sponsorship of the clinical priority areas and any
indicators flagged in the lowest quartile of national performance
• An Assurance and Turnaround Director has been appointed to the Executive Team who
had responsibility for the delivery of an improved IAF position. Monthly meetings with
clinical and managerial leads for each Clinical Priority Area have been established. In
addition, a bi-weekly review on key actions will take place at the Corporate Leadership
Team
• Regular "checkpoint" discussions have taken place with the regulators

2.1.3(11)

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of
resources

In order to obtain maximum benefit for patients from finite resources, we regularly review our
expenditure to ensure that it gets value for money. This is achieved by improving
commissioning to ensure that different services, programmes and initiatives work together
effectively. In addition, benchmarking tools are used to compare costs with other
organisations, and also by comparing costs of services commissioned against health
outcomes. These tools help us to improve the efficiency of the services provided to patients.
We strive to ensure that budget holders are clear of the responsibility that they have and the
decisions that they can make aligned to the Scheme of Delegation. Ensuring that the
ownership of budgets is not just held in the finance and contracting team helps to ensure that
there is wider organisational understanding of our collective responsibility to use all of our
resources effectively and efficiently. Applying a strong governance and assurance framework
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around this further reinforces the control mechanism and manages the risks effectively whilst
also facilitating an approach that improves outcomes for our local population.
The most recently published assessment of the CCG’s Quality of Leadership (covering
Quarter 2 of 2017/18) is “Amber”. The 2017/18 year-end results for this Indicator will be
available from July 2017 at https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/performance/search

2.1.3(12)

Delegation of functions

The CCG has established a Joint Commissioning Committee of NHS Vale Royal CCG, NHS
South Cheshire CCG, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and NHS West Cheshire CCG. It has
been set up to manage, to the extent permitted under s.14Z3 NHS Act 2006 (as amended),
the activities of the four CCGs as within its delegated responsibilities.
The Committee has the primary purpose of enabling the CCG members to work effectively
together to collaborate and take joint decisions in the areas of work they agree. Individual
CCGs that constitute the membership of the Committee will still always remain accountable for
meeting their statutory duties.
The Committee is responsible for exercising the following functions:
• Delegated decision making authority for recommendations made by the Cheshire and
Merseyside Five Year Forward View leadership board, and Cheshire and Wirral Local
Delivery System recommendations for adoption across Cheshire
• Strategic oversight and development of the workplan for the establishment of unified health
commissioning across Cheshire, providing recommendations for adoption to CCG
Governing Bodies and endorsement by Health and Wellbeing Boards
• Delegated decision making authority on commissioning services at scale, as outlined with
the Committees Annual Workplan and CCG Scheme of Reservation and Delegation
Each CCG has equal representation, with the individual CCG membership on the Committee
being:
• Clinical representation: CCG GP Chair and one other GP Representative
• Executive representation: Accountable Officer and one other Executive Director
• Independent Representation: CCG Lay Member
The Committee may only operate in accordance with an Annual Workplan agreed and
reviewed by each CCG member of the Joint Committee on an annual basis.
The Governing Bodies of each member CCG require that the Committee provides a quarterly
written update report to the Governing Body, hold annual engagement events to review aims,
objectives, strategy and progress of the Committee and publish an annual report on progress
made against objectives.
The Joint Committee’s terms of reference, Workplan and details of the Committee’s meetings
can be viewed at: http://www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk/governing-body/cheshire-ccgs-jointcommissioning-committee

2.1.3(13)

Counter Fraud Arrangements

The CCG’s Prime Financial Policies state that: “The Governing Body s Governance and Audit
Committee will satisfy itself that the group has adequate arrangements in place for countering
fraud and shall review the outcomes of counter fraud work. It shall also approve the counter
fraud work programme. The Governing Body’s Governance and Audit committee will ensure
that the group has arrangements in place to work effectively with NHS Protect.”
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Clare Watson

the Remuneration Committee’s recommendations for the Chief Executive / Accountable
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. The percentage allowance relating to complexity has
been applied for the GP Clinical Chair salary. All other CCG employed staff are covered by
the Agenda for Change national terms and conditions.
The terms of reference of the Committee were reviewed and refined in response to the
findings of NHS England’s NHS Liverpool CCG Remuneration Report Review.
Benefits
Senior managers may receive taxable benefits from the CCG lease car / car allowance
scheme as part of their remuneration.
Pensions
All salaried Governing Body members had access to the NHS Pension Scheme, except for
our Lay Members. Details of each pension scheme can be found
at: https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/member-hub (see note 4.1.1 of the Annual Accounts for further
information).
Performance Management
Our CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all its employees. The Remuneration
Committee’s minutes state that the current organisation’s objectives and appraisal system
would continue to be the method by which performance and achievement of corporate
objectives were measured.
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2.2.2 Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2017/18 (Subject to Audit)
Salary &

Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Clinical Chair
April 2017 - March 2018
Simon Whitehouse - Chief Executive
April 2017 - June 2017
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2017 - March 2018
Tracy Parker Priest - Executive Director of Transformation & Commissioning
April 2017 - December 2017
Tracey Cole - Executive Director of Commissioning
January 2018 - March 2018
Phil Meakin - Executive Director of Assurance and Turnaround
February 2018 - March 2018
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse and Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding
April 2017 - March 2018
Moira Angel - Interim Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding
June 2017 - March 2018
Dr Jean Jenkins - Governing Body Member
April 2017 - May 2017
Dr Teresa Strefford - Governing Body Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith - Governing Body Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Dr Nichola Bishop - Governing Body Member
June 2017 - March 2018

2

Bonuses

All Pension
Related

Total

(bands of
£5,000)

Payments
(taxable)
(to nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£0

£000

£000

£000

75 - 80

0

0

35 - 37.5

115 - 120

10 - 15

1000

0

30 - 32.5

40 - 45

30 - 35

1800

0

60 - 62.5

95 - 100

20 - 25

1800

0

0

20 - 25

5 - 10

0

0

27.5 - 30

30 - 35

5 - 10

0

0

0

5 - 10

15 - 20

2000

0

0

15 - 20

10 - 15

0

0

0

10 - 15

10 - 15

0

0

0

10 - 15

65 - 70

0

0

7.5 - 10

70 - 75

15 - 20

0

0

0

15 - 20

30 - 35

0

0

60 - 62.5

115 - 120

Fees1
Name & Title

Expense

3
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2.2.2 Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2017/18 (Subject to Audit)
Salary &

Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
April 2017 - March 2018
Suzanne Horrill - Lay Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Terry Savage - Lay Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Brian Roberts - Lay Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Ann Gray - Lay Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Ian Ashworth - Director of Public Health, Cheshire West & Chester Council4
April 2017 - March 2018

2

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Payments
(taxable)
(to nearest
£100)
£0

5 - 10

Fees1
Name & Title

Expense
Bonuses

All Pension
Related

Total

3

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

0

0

0

5 - 10

5 - 10

0

0

0

5 - 10

5 - 10

0

0

0

5 - 10

0-5

0

0

0

0-5

0-5

0

0

0

0-5

0

0

0

0

0
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2.2.2 Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2016/17
Salary &
Fees
Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse - Chief Executive Officer
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Clinical Chair
April 2016 - March 2017
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2016 - March 2017
Tracy Parker Priest - Executive Director of Transformation and Commissioning
April 2016 - March 2017
Fiona Field - Director of Partnerships and Governance
April 2016 - March 2017
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse and Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding
April 2016 - March 2017
Rachel Duckett - Interim Turnaround Director
June 2016 - September 2016
Dr Jean Jenkins - Governing Body Member
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Teresa Strefford - Governing Body Member
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith - Governing Body Member
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
April 2016 - March 2017
Suzanne Horrill - Lay Member
April 2016 - March 2017
Terry Savage - Lay Member
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Fiona Reynolds - Interim Director of Public Health
April 2016 - March 2017

Expense
Payments

Bonuses

1

All Pension
Related

Total

3

(bands of
£5,000)

(taxable)
(to nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£0

£000

£000

£000

45 - 50

3300

50 - 52.5

100 - 105

17.5 - 20

95 - 100

52.5 - 55

90 - 95

75 - 80
35 - 40

1600

30 - 35

1600

30 - 35

5 - 10
20 - 25

5 - 10
1900

52.5 - 55

20 - 25

80 - 85
20 - 25

85 - 90

57.5 - 60

145 - 150

75 - 80

15 - 17.5

90 - 95

15 - 20

2.5 - 5

20 - 25

5 - 10

5 - 10

5 - 10

5 - 10

5 - 10

5 - 10

0

0
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Notes to Statements
1. NHS Vale Royal CCG has a shared management team with NHS South Cheshire CCG
where the costs of a number of employees are shared between the two organisations.
The salary disclosure table shows the cost to NHS Vale Royal CCG only.
The summary below shows the changes in personnel and role during the year. The
information is a subset of Salary Disclosure Table (2.2.2) but shows the total
remuneration split across NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG.
SCCCG
(£)

VRCCG
(£)

Total
(£)

Apr 17 - Jun 18

20 - 25

10 - 15

30 - 35

Chief Officer

Sep 17 - Mar 18

50 - 55

30 - 35

85 - 90

Lynda Risk

Chief Finance Officer

Apr 17 - May 17
Sep 17 - Mar 18

45 - 50

25 - 30

70 - 75

Lynda Risk

Interim Chief Officer

Jun 17 - Sep 17

20 - 25

10 - 15

30 - 35

Tracy Parker-Priest3

Executive Director of Transformation & Apr 17 - May 17
Commissioning
Sep 17 - Dec 17

15 - 20

15 - 20

35 - 40

Tracy Parker-Priest

Interim Chief Operating Officer

Jun 17 - Sep 17

10 - 15

10 - 15

20 - 25

Tracey Cole4

Executive Director Commissioning

Jan 18 - Mar 18

5 - 10

5 - 10

15 - 20

Feb 17 - Mar 18

10 - 15

15 - 20

25 - 30

Apr 17 - Mar 18

25 - 30

10 - 15

35 - 40

Jun 17 - Mar 18

20 - 25

10 - 15

30 - 35

Name

Position

Period

Simon Whitehouse1

Chief Executive Officer

Clare Watson2

Phil Meakin5
Judith Thorley
Moira Angel

Executive Director of Assurance and
Turnaround
Chief Nurse and Executive Director of
Quality & Safeguarding
Interim Executive Director of Quality &
Safeguarding

a

Outward secondment to NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG from Jun 17 - Mar 18

b

Seconded from NHS Tameside & Glossop CCG and represents amounts paid to NHS

Tameside & Glossop CCG
c

Outward secondment to NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG from Dec 17 - Mar 18

d

Very Senior Manager from Feb 18 only. Previously held a non-VSM role in the CCG

e

Seconded from NHS East Cheshire CCG and represents amounts paid to NHS East

Cheshire CCG
2. The taxable benefits relate to the CCGs lease car scheme. For Simon Whitehouse,
Lynda Risk, Judith Thorley and Tracy Parker-Priest 36% of the benefit in kind is assumed
to be gained from NHS Vale Royal CCG and 64% from NHS South Cheshire CCG.
3. The values in the All Pension Related Benefits column derive from a calculation that
follows the HMRC method to estimate the employer’s contribution to the increase in
pension entitlement for defined benefit pension schemes. These values are not shared
between NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG but are shown at the full
amount for both CCGs.
Pension related benefit relates to in-year benefits from participating pension schemes.
These are the aggregate input amounts, calculated using the method set out in section
229 of the Finance Act 2004(1). Para 10(1)(e)(ii)(cc) of sch8 of 2013/1981.
The amount is calculated by:
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Increase to Pension = ((20 x PE) +LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB) – Employee Contributions
Where:
PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the director if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
director if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the director if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
director if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.
These figures are provided by the NHS Pensions Scheme for “Greenbury” reporting
purposes, the CCG has no control over the amounts reported.
4. Ian Ashworth is employed by Cheshire West and Chester Council and receives no
remuneration from NHS Vale Royal CCG
5. Dr Teresa Strefford, Dr Nichola Bishop have other contracts for service within the CCG
other than their Governing Body role. The salary disclosure table shows their full
remuneration received from the CCG.
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2.2.3 Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2017/18 (Subject to Audit)

Name & Title

Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Clinical Chair
April 2017 - March 2018
Simon Whitehouse - Chief Executive Officer
April 2017 - June 2017
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2017 - March 2018
Tracey Cole - Director of Commissioning
January 2018 - March 2018
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse and Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding
April 2017 - March 2018
Dr Jean Jenkins - Governing Body Member
April 2017 - May 2017
Dr Teresa Strefford - Governing Body Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith - Governing Body Member
April 2017 - March 2018
Dr Nichola Bishop - Governing Body Member
June 2017 - March 2018

Total accrued Lump sum at
pension at age 60 related
pension age
to accrued
at 31 March pension at 31
2018
March 2018

Real increase
in pension at
pension age

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at

Real increase
in Cash
Equivalent

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at

01-Apr-17

Transfer
Value

31-Mar-18

£000

£000

£000

£000

10 - 15

20 - 25

148

34

182

0

40 - 45

95 - 100

533

62

594

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

35 - 40

90 - 95

571

83

654

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

10 - 15

20 - 25

154

18

172

0

0

25 - 30

120 - 125

751

0

751

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

10 - 15

30 - 35

165

38

203

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

10 - 15

30 - 35

211

5

216

2.5 - 5

10 - 12.5

0

0

100

66

167

83

2.2.3 Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2016/17

Name & Title

Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Clinical Chair
April 2016 - March 2017
Simon Whitehouse - Chief Executive
April 2016 - March 2017
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2016 - March 2017
Fiona Field - Director of Partnerships and Governance
April 2016 - June 2016
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse and Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Jean Jenkins - Governing Body Member
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Teresa Strefford - Governing Body Member
April 2016 - March 2017
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith - Governing Body Member
April 2016 - March 2017

Total accrued Lump sum at
pension at age 60 related
pension age
to accrued
at 31 March pension at 31
2016
March 2016

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April 2015

Real increase
in Cash
Equivalent

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at

(bands of
£5,000)

1 April 2016

Transfer
Value

31 March 2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

10 - 15

20 - 25

123

24

147

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

35 - 40

95 - 100

477

50

528

2.5 - 5

2.5 - 5

30 - 35

85 - 90

507

58

565

40 - 45

125 - 130

942

0

942

Real increase
in pension at
pension age

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

0 - 2.5

-

-

2.5 - 5

7.5 - 10

40 - 45

120 - 125

672

72

744

2.5 - 5

7.5 - 10

25 - 30

80 - 85

490

92

582

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

10 - 15

30 - 35

137

26

163

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

10 - 15

30 - 35

191

18

209
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Notes to Statements
Cash equivalent transfer values:
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension
payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are
calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV:
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase
in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of
any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).

2.2.4

Pay Multiples (Subject to Audit)

NHS Vale Royal CCG has a management sharing arrangement with NHS South Cheshire CCG, it
is the cost to NHS Vale Royal CCG that identifies them as “highest paid” and not the total of that
individual’s remuneration. The remuneration costs would typically be split 36% NHS Vale Royal
CCG and 64% NHS South Cheshire CCG.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in NHS Vale Royal CCG in the financial year
2017/18 was £77,500 (2016/17, £77,500). This was 7.1 times (2016/17, 7.36) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £10,911 (2016/17, £10,802). It is worth noting that 21 of
the 38 person workforce in NHS Vale Royal CCG, work for Medicines Management across 3
CCGs where NHS Vale Royal CCG’s share is 22% of the total cost.
The complexity of the shared management arrangement means that consideration should be given
to the overall median total for NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG which was
£32,731 with a ratio of 3.13. In 2016/17 the combined median was £32,407 with a ratio of 3.24.
In 2017/18, zero employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director.
Remuneration ranged from £4,110 to £77,500.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind,
but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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2.3 Staff Report
2.3.1

Our Team

Our revised Constitution has been ratified by NHS England. Our Constitution states that, as a
Membership Assembly, we delegate authority to the Governing Body to effectively and efficiently
run the CCG on our behalf.
Our organisational structure can be found in appendix one. This illustrates our Membership
Assembly and Governing Body, together with its Committees and the lines of reporting and
communication.
Our CCG team is clinically led and comprise of clinicians and a small management team. We also
have a Secondary Care Doctor and a Governing Body Lead Nurse who form part of the Governing
Body, along with our Lay Members.
Our GPs and clinicians have a wealth of local knowledge, clinical expertise and a real passion to
improve health and care for the people within our local communities. We have GPs who lead on
specific pieces of work in Service Quality and Safety, Children and Young People, Mental Health
and Learning Disabilities, Medicines Management, as well as Primary Care Quality. We see
clinical involvement as a vital ingredient to support us to continue to strive for an improvement in
clinical outcomes for our population, whilst ensuring that we are able to deliver the service changes
that are required and that the local care system remains sustainable with regards to meeting the
increased demand. Our Lay Members hold portfolio roles and responsibilities including
Governance and Audit and Patient and Public Engagement.
When we formed as a CCG on 1st April 2013 we took the local decision, with our members, to
create a shared management team with our neighbouring CCG, NHS South Cheshire CCG. We
have continued with this structure to ensure that we work more efficiently and have a real focus on
using every pound of taxpayers money in as effective manner as possible. In adopting this
approach we also strive to acknowledge local differences within our population and local
communities. On this basis we have our own Governing Bodies supporting the two respective
CCGs who are then further supported by the shared management team. The shared management
team makes sense given that the main providers of acute, community and mental health care are
the same across the two CCGs.

2.3.2

Staff Numbers and Composition

The table below shows the average staff numbers for the CCG as at 31 March 2018. Further
information can be found in note 4 of the CCG accounts. The average number of employees is
calculated as the whole time equivalent (WTE) number of employees under contract of service in
each week in the financial year, divided by the number of weeks in the financial year.

Note: GP and Lay Governing Body members are not included in the table above.
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Gender profile:
The gender breakdown of the Governing Body membership at 31 March 2018, as described in the
Members’ Report, was:
• 66% female (10 members);
• 33% male (5 members)
The gender profile of CCG staff (by headcount) is detailed below:
Staff
Female
Male
Total
Very Senior Managers
3
1
4
Other members of staff
31
4
35
Total
34
5
39
Headcount includes staff whose contract is with NHS Vale Royal CCG and does not include
headcount recharged from NHS South Cheshire CCG as part of the shared management
structure.
Expenditure on staffing can be found in Note 4.1.1 of the Annual Accounts.

2.3.3

Sickness Absence

The CCG has a robust Attendance Management policy and procedure in place designed to
establish a positive attendance culture and support its managers and staff with attendance issues
by ensuring that these are managed consistently in a fair and equitable way.
The CCG proactively managed both short-term and long-term sickness absence in line with this
policy, with sickness absence being monitored on a monthly basis and reported on a quarterly
basis to the Governance and Audit Committee, which is a subcommittee of the Governing Body.
The total number of calendar days lost to sickness absence during the period 1st January 2017 31st December 2017 was 116 days, which equates to an average 4 working days lost per member
of staff over the last year.

2.3.4

Staff Policies Applied

We are an Equal Opportunity Employer
As a Clinical Commissioning Group, we are committed to equality of opportunity for all employees
and are committed to employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no
employee, or potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender,
race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or belief, age, trade
union membership, disability, offending background, domestic circumstances, social and
employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political affiliation or any other personal
characteristic as outlined in the Equality Act (2010) and any other status covered by the Human
Rights Act (1998). Diversity will be viewed positively and, in recognising that everyone is different,
the unique contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued
equally.
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through our policies ensuring that
employees receive fair, equitable and consistent treatment and ensuring that employees, and
potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination.
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It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and act in accordance with the Equality
and Diversity Policy. Failure to do so will result in the disciplinary procedure being instigated, which
could result in dismissal.
We have an Equality and Diversity Policy that has been approved by Staff Side Partners and
ratified by the Governing Body.
Staff Partnership Forum
The CCG acknowledges that the effective and productive conduct of employee relations benefits
significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an active role in
partnership working. In support of this the CCG has a recognition agreement with Trade Unions
and staff side representatives and actively participates in the Cheshire & Merseyside’s Staff
Partnership Forum which aims to identify and facilitate the workforce and employment aspects of
the NHS locally in developing arrangements to implement required changes which may affect the
workforce.
The Staff Partnership Forum is the CCG’s main body for actively engaging, consulting and
negotiating with key staff side stakeholders. The forum is authorised to agree, revise and review
policies and procedures which may relate to changes in employment legislation and regulation and
the terms and conditions of employment affecting CCG staff covered by the national Agenda for
Change Terms and Conditions.
Any policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum during this period were subsequently ratified
by the CCGs Governance and Audit Committee.
Staff Support
During the year the CCG continued to remain fully committed to the health and positive wellbeing
of its employees and understands that the health and wellbeing of the workforce is crucial to the
delivery of the improvements in patient care outlined in the CCG’s strategic commissioning plan.
All staff have access to a comprehensive Occupational Health Service including support for Visual
Unit Display (VDU) users and confidential counselling services. Managers are supported by the
Human Resources team to make appropriate referrals to support any health concerns raised by an
employee in a bid to ensure health and wellbeing remains a priority for the organisation.
Personal Development Reviews
The CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all of its employees in order to manage the
performance and development of its staff. The CCG has adopted the stance that the current
organisation’s objectives and appraisal system are the method by which performance and
achievement of corporate objectives would be measured. Further work is currently being
undertaken to develop the PDR process in line with the CCG’s Organisational Development Plan
and priorities.
Employee Consultation (Staff Well Being and Engagement)
The CCG recognises that its staff are its greatest asset, as it is through staff that the CCG is able
to achieve the fundamental positive outcomes in clinical commissioning required as part of the
organisation’s corporate strategy and objectives. In support of this the CCG places a high
importance on the delivery of effective communications, involvement and engagement with all of its
employees and discharges these duties through a variety of means including:
• An annual Staff Survey which consults staff on a wide range of issues.
• Staff engagement champions – the Staff Engagement Champion group oversees the
monitoring and implementation of the CCGs staff survey action plans. The group’s vision is to
support the organisation in driving forward effective engagement and health and wellbeing of
all staff across the CCG.
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•

•
•

A regular stand-up / ‘team briefing’ which provides a valuable opportunity for the Chief Officer
and senior managers to brief staff on important matters concerning the business and
operations of the organisation, including specific employee matters to which all CCG staff are
invited and encouraged to attend.
A weekly electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and digestible summary of
key internal and external issues of relevance to the staff and CCG.
An internal online intranet resource that includes summaries of key activities and performance,
alongside policy and procedures.

Disabled Employees
The CCG is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and is committed to
employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee, or potential
employee receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or
national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or belief, age, trade union membership,
disability, offending background, domestic circumstances, social and employment status, HIV
status, gender reassignment political affiliation or any other person characteristic as outlines in the
Equality Act ( 2010) and any other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity will
be viewed positively and in recognising that everyone is different, the unique contribution that each
individual’s experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued equally.
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through policies and ensures that
employees receive fair equitable and consistent treatment and ensures that employees, and
potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination. To ensure that CCG
policies do not have an adverse impact in response to the requirements of the Equality Act (2010),
policies are screen for relevance during policy development processes and full equality impact
assessments are conducted where necessary.
It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and act in accordance with the Equality
and Diversity policy. The CCG takes equality and diversity serious and will not tolerate
discrimination in any form. As such failure to act in accordance with the CCG’s Equality and
Diversity policy could lead to disciplinary action.
The CCG operates a fair and objective system for recruiting, which places emphasis on individual
skills, abilities and experience. This enables a full diversity of people to demonstrate their ability to
do a job. Selection criteria contained within our job descriptions and person specifications are
regularly reviewed to ensure that they are justifiable and so do not unfairly discriminate directly or
indirectly and are essential for the effective performance of the role. We offer a guaranteed
interview scheme for disabled applicants who meet our essential selection criteria. During 2017/18
we continued to maintain our “Positive About Disabled People/2 Tick” accreditation.
Workforce Development
Creating an environment in which our people can thrive is an essential element in delivering our
vision - working together with our partners for our local populations, minimising health inequalities
and delivering high quality healthcare. The CCG has supported various strands of work to ensure
our people are equipped to perform their roles effectively and continue to develop.
A clinical engagement strategy was agreed by the Governing Body in June 2017. The strategy
informs work around engagement and in particular the work being done to promote increased
engagement between GPs and Hospital Consultants. This has been the subject of a Podcast
Interview which you can access via this link: http://ockham.healthcare/episode-68-jonathangriffiths-improving-engagement-between-gps-and-hospital-consultants/
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Working with NHS Eastern Cheshire CCGs’ Chief Nurse, NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale
Royal CCGs’ Chief Nurse developed and delivered a General Practice Nurse Leadership
Programme which was academically evaluated by Coventry University. For 2018/19, Health
Education Northwest have commissioned three cohorts of the General Practice Nurse Leadership
Programme across the North West. This is in line with the GP Five Year Forward View, Ten point
plan and workforce development and aims to develop the “GPN” clinical voice, confidence and
competence, progress with succession planning and secure GPN’s for the future integrated
workforce
The CCG has a well-established Personal Development Review (PDR) process for staff to identify
priorities and development needs. Governing Body members also hold regular PDR meetings with
the CCG Chair.
The CCG appointed an Accountable Officer in year who led work at Tameside and Glossop CCG
on an integration programme which aligned the CCG and local authority director team, established
a single commissioning board and a new integrated care Foundation Trust. The Accountable
Officer had brought this significant experience and expertise of delivering system transformation to
the CCG.
The Executive Team has also been strengthened by appointment during the year of a dedicated
Executive Director for Assurance and Turnaround and an Executive Director of Commissioning.
The Executive Team’s portfolios have been revised to ensure an appropriate focus on the CCG’s
key priorities around financial turnaround and the delivery of strategic priorities.
Clinical Directors’ portfolios have also been reviewed and revised to ensure a continued focus on
key clinical priorities, including Clinical Director leadership in each of the six clinical priority areas
within the Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF).
The Accountable Officer has led a review of lay members’ roles to ensure their particular interests /
expertise is used to best effect in supporting the CCGs to move forward. Revised portfolios were
discussed and agreed with the lay members to provide greater clarity around: a geographical
focus, in working with particular care communities; a strategic focus in leading defined areas of
business; assurance activity and specific roles within the CCGs’ governance structures; and
engagement with the Executive Team, through identified Executive Team members (which reflect
the wider portfolios).
The Finance team is accredited at level one as part of the assessment from the Finance Skills
Development Network. As part of this accreditation a survey has been carried out in year of all
non-finance staff as to their training needs and support requirements from the finance team. This
will be followed up by a work programme to address the issues identified. In addition the Finance
team hold regular team market places so that issues can be raised and addressed for non-finance
staff.
Within the finance team there is a strong training ethos with a number of staff training for
professional qualifications. The CCG is part of the national finance management trainee scheme
supporting the development of future senior finance staff.
The PDR process for all staff includes a section on training needs and this information is used to
develop a wider training needs analysis for the CCG.
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Human Resources and Organisational Development Strategy
During 2015/16 the CCG reviewed its Human Resources and Organisational Development
strategies and developed a two year ‘People Strategy’. The Strategy and associated action plan
drew together all the CCGs would do to attract, retain, support and reward its staff to meet its
priorities.
The newly appointed Accountable Officer commissioned a staff survey in October 2017. Following
a 14 December all staff session to discuss the findings of the staff survey, action plans and
appreciate inquiry summaries were shared with executive directors with the following actions put in
place:
• Directors reviewed the action plans with their teams and to work with staff engagement
champions to make them SMART.
• The results of the appreciative inquiry were presented as a poster to display in individual teams
to support ownership.
• Monthly agenda item on Corporate Leadership Team to share progress, agree ownership,
support teams to deliver and to celebrate successes.
• Updates shared through team brief face to face sessions and CCG weekly updates.
In response to the survey results, the CCGs committed to securing dedicated Organisational
Development support. Following a short tender process, Healthskills were engaged to provide
Organisational Development support to the CCGs. The work is not only with the Executive team
and the Governing Body but across the organisation to further develop what was shared in the
staff survey and to better understand the themes that came out of the away morning.
This was done by interviewing a selection of staff from across all teams and all grades to “take the
temperature of the organisation”. The information that was gathered is being used to develop an
organisational action plan that sits alongside the appreciative inquiry and action plans that have
been developed within individual teams.
Healthskills observed the February Governing Body meeting to support the production of a high
level OD plan and to provide in depth feedback and data on any points of development. The
organisation will be kept up to date with progress and outcomes in fortnightly updates in the CCG
weekly update (shared with all staff in a weekly email). The work will support the creation of a
clear set of visions and values – something that all staff worked on during an all staff session on
the 22nd March.
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience & Response
In 2015 NHS England issued revised core standards for Emergency Planning, Resilience and
Response (EPRR). The CCG conducted a gap analysis against the standards and the CCG
Incident Response and Business Continuity Plans were reviewed at the same time.
Following a self-assessment process NHS South Cheshire CCG/ NHS Vale Royal CCG
demonstrated ‘Full’ compliance. The CCG Governance and Audit committee were assured that
the CCGs were ‘fully’ compliant with the standards and this was duly reported to NHS England
who confirmed that the CCG “met the expected timescale and all documentation was signed off at
Board level. Any gaps identified were noted by NHS England and have a clear action plan that will
be reviewed again in the 2018/2019 Core Standards Return”.
The CCG continues to maintain an on call managers system, in conjunction with NHS Vale Royal
CCG, to ensure a 24/7 response.
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2.5 Report by Auditors to the Governing Body
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Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Vale Royal CCG Report on the
Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Vale Royal CCG (the ‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2018
which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2017/18 and the
requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2018 and of its expenditure
and income for the year then ended; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health Group
Accounting Manual 2017/2018; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Who we are reporting to
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part
5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report
to you where:
• the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
• the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on
the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated
in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the course of our work including that gained through work in relation to the CCG’s
arrangements for securing value for money through economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its
resource or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We are required to consider whether the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the
NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our
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audit. We are not required to consider whether the Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that
risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in these regards.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on
behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice)
In our opinion:
• the parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2017/18 and the requirements of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012; and
• based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of
the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published together with the
financial statements in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Qualified opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the Basis for qualified opinion on regularity section
of our report, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial statements conform
to the authorities which govern them.
Basis for qualified opinion on regularity
The CCG reported a deficit of £4.537 million in its financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2018, thereby
breaching its duty under the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 223I of Section 27 of
the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to ensure that its revenue resource use in a financial year does not exceed
the amount specified by direction of the NHS Commissioning Board. This deficit also resulted in a breach of the
CCG’s duty under the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 223H of Section 27 of the
Health and Social care Act 2012, to ensure that its expenditure in a financial year does not exceed its income.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if:
•
•

•

we have reported a matter in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
we have referred a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 because we had reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, was about to make,
or had made, a decision which involved or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or was
about to take, or had begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
we have made a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except on 9 February 2018, we referred a matter to the
Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in relation to NHS Vale Royal
CCG’s planned breach of its revenue resource limit for the year ending 31 March 2018.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities set out on pages 54 to 55, the
Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form and on the basis set
out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the CCG lacks funding for its continued existence or when policy decisions
have been made that affect the services provided by the CCG.
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The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements.
The Governance and Audit Committee is ‘Those Charged with Governance’.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Qualified conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General in November
2017, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for qualified conclusion section of our report, we
are satisfied that in all significant respects, NHS Vale Royal CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.
Basis for qualified conclusion
Our review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
identified the following matter:
The CCG reported a deficit of £4.537 million in its financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2018. The
CCG has not yet succeeded in addressing its underlying deficit and is forecasting a further deficit of £2 million
for the year ending 31 March 2019. To remain within its forecast deficit for 2018/19, the CCG has to deliver a
savings programme of £5.519 million, for which £2 million of savings schemes are still to be identified.
This matter identifies weaknesses in the CCG’s arrangements for setting a sustainable budget with sufficient
capacity to absorb emerging cost pressures. This matter is evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for
sustainable resource deployment in planning finances effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic
priorities and maintain statutory functions.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(3)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has
done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on
the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017, as to whether in all
significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and
deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of
Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018, and to report by exception
where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook
such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements –Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Vale Royal CCG in accordance
with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.
Robin Baker
Robin Baker
Director
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool L3 1PS
26 May 2018
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NHS Vale Royal CCG - Annual Accounts 2017-18
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(881)
(156)
(1,037)

(863)
(62)
(925)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

1,958
149,986
17
0
412
152,373

2,086
144,677
14
0
744
147,521

Net Operating Expenditure

151,336

146,596

Finance income
Finance expense
Net expenditure for the year
Net Gain/(Loss) on Transfer by Absorption

0
151,336
0

0
146,596
0

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018

151,336

146,596

The notes on pages 112 to 116 form part of this statement
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NHS Vale Royal CCG - Annual Accounts 2017-18
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018
General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017

(8,207)

0

0

(8,207)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018

0
(8,207)

0
0

0
0

0
(8,207)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

(151,336)

(151,336)

0

0

0

0

(151,336)

0

0

(151,336)

151,956

0

0

151,956

(7,587)

0

0

(7,587)

General fund
£'000

Revaluation
reserve
£'000

Other
reserves
£'000

£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 01 April 2016
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April
2013 transition
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2017
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating costs for the financial year
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the
Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2017

(6,725)

0

0

(6,725)

0
(6,725)

0
0

0
0

0
(6,725)

(146,596)

(146,596)

0

0

0

0

(146,596)

0

0

(146,596)

145,114

0

0

145,114

(8,208)

0

0

(8,208)
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NHS Vale Royal CCG - Annual Accounts 2017-18
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
5
9
11

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

10

2016-17
£'000

2017-18
£'000
(151,336)
17
0
(651)
0
10
0
0
0
(151,960)

(146,596)
14
0
782
0
812
0
0
0
(144,988)

0
0

(72)
(72)

(151,960)

(145,060)

151,956
151,957

145,114
145,114

(3)

54

80

26

0

0

76

80

The notes on pages 116 to 122 form part of this statement
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1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet he accounting requirements of he Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in
he Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accoun ing policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by he clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
During the year, our auditors issued a letter to he Secretary of State for Health under Section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
advising that the CCG expected to breach its statutory duty to operate with its spending targets for 2017-18 (see note 18). Furthermore the CCG
expects to exceed expenditure targets in 2018-19 and in conjunction with NHS England has set a budget deficit.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents, the CCG’s spending allocation for 2018/19 has been
published by the department for Health and Social Care. Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern
basis. There are no plans to discontinue the services currently commissioned by the CCG. Management considers hese circumstances to be
adequate grounds for applying the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost conven ion modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activi ies are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if
hey cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual,
issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which
have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed
separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income
and expenditure entries.

1.5

Pooled Budgets
Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Sec ion 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006
he Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of he assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled
budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
- The assets the Clinical Commissioning Group controls;
- The liabilities the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;
- The expenses the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income from he pooled budget activities.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addi ion to the above, he Clinical Commissioning
Group recognises:
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of any liabilities incurred join ly; and,
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6

1.6.1

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates
and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which
he estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from hose involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying
he Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.6.2

Contracting Outturn Estimates
The forecast out turn for provider contracts are estimated based on he activity information available in conjunction with regular discussions with
providers to reach an agreed estimate of the contracting over/under performance. The actual activity information for providers will be available in
June 2018.
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1.6.3

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on he amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.6.4

Prescribing Estimates
There is an average six week delay in receiving from the Prescription Pricing Department (PPD) he costs of prescriptions dispensed and a
forecast year position by practice. For 2017/18, the PPD has indicated that the final March 2018 figures will herefore not be available until mid
May 2018. The figures included in these accounts are therefore based on the actual figures received for January 2018 and an estimate for
February and March 2017 (£2,489,551).

1.6.5

Partially Completed Spells Estimates
The cost of Partially Completed Spells are calculated by NHS Providers. These costs will be based on episodes of care that span over the year
end (i.e. the episode of care begins in 2017/18, but is not completed until 2018/19). Estimated costs for partially completed spells for NHS bodies
have been included only for those organisations that include them in their own statutory accounts.

1.6.6

The Maternity Pathway Payment System
The Clinical Commissioning Group is obliged to make payment to NHS providers covering the whole of he maternity pathway, at the point at
which the patient presents for treatment. This results in an amount being paid to NHS providers ahead of he completed episode of care, and a
resultant prepayment for the Clinical Commissioning Group. The estimated prepayment for Maternity Pathways for NHS bodies has been included
only for those organisations that include them in their own statutory accounts.

1.7

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to he extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific ac ivity that is to be delivered in the following year, hat income is deferred.

1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into he following period.

1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The
scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other han those due to ill heal h the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme
assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounts. The
assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in he liability arising from
pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is
recognised wi hin finance income. The interest cost during he year arising from the unwinding of he discount on the scheme liabilities is
recognised wi hin finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during he year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of
other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.9

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabili ies in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation,
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
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1.10

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
- It is held for use in delivering services or for administra ive purposes;
- It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the Clinical Commissioning Group;
- It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
- The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
- The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
- Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
func ionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and
are under single managerial control; or,
- Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespec ive of their individual or collective
cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated
as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.10.2

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are
measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the Clinical Commissioning Group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial
position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
- Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
- Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing
use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve
to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear
consump ion of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.10.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is
written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.11

Intangible Assets

1.11.1

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
- When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service poten ial be provided to, the Clinical Commissioning Group;
- Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
- Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an
operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of
hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as
an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:
- The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
- The inten ion to complete the intangible asset and use it;
- The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
- How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
- The availability of adequate technical, financial and o her resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
- The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
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1.11.2

Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria
above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, he expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is
incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no active
market exists, at the lower of depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income generating . Internally-developed
software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.

1.12

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off he costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible noncurrent assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service
potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Clinical Commissioning Group expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Clinical Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical
life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a
prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine whether here has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on he reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise
from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of he recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there and thereafter to he revaluation reserve.

1.13

Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are valued, depreciated and
impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are as described above for
purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the dona ion preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.14

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only where
conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.15

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all he risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

1.15.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit.
Opera ing lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether hey are
operating or finance leases.

1.15.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of he lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of he leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.16

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

1.17

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.
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1.18

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the repor ing
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to set le the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%)
·Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.85% (previously: minus 1.95%)
·Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.19

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the
NHS Litiga ion Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.20

Non-Clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and he Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.21

Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.
Under the scheme Clinical Commissioning Group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to set le the claims.

1.22

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly wi hin the control of he Clinical Commissioning Group, or a present obligation that is
not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured sufficien ly reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning Group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an
Where the ime value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.23

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
- Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
- Held to maturity investments;
- Available for sale financial assets; and,
- Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.23.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, wi h any
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates
any interest earned on the financial asset.

1.23.2

Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. After ini ial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.23.3

Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the
other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the
exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
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1.23.4

Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the
initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events which occurred after he initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of he revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in
expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount
of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

1.24

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when he Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

1.24.1

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at he higher of:
- The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
- The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabili ies and
Contingent Assets.

1.24.2

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on
the financial liability.

1.25

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.26

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the Clinical Commissioning
Group has no beneficial interest in them.

1.27

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are herefore subject to special control procedures compared wi h the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks (wi h insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.28

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2017-18, all of which
are subject to consultation:
- IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
- IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
- IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
- IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
- IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021)
- IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)
- IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they applied in that year.
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Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Pa ient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of dona ions for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2017-18
Total

2016-17
Total

£'000

£'000

30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
881
0
0
0
0
0
126
1,037

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
863
0
0
0
0
0
62
925

2017-18
Total
£'000
887
150
1,037

2016-17
Total
£'000
846
79
925

3 Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total
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4 Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2017-18

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

1,599
161
197
1
0
0
0
0
1,958

1,518
154
188
1
0
0
0
0
1,861

81
7
9
0
0
0
0
0
97

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(29)
1,929

(29)
1,832

0
97

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
1,929

0
1,832

0
97

4.1.1 Employee benefits

2016-17

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

1,702
172
212
0
0
0
0
0
2,086

1,653
172
212
0
0
0
0
0
2,037

49
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
49

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
2,086

0
2,037

0
49

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
2,086

0
2,037

0
49

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2017-18
Total
£'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2016-17
Permanent
Employees
£'000

(26)
(3)
0
0
0
0
0
(29)

(26)
(3)
0
0
0
0
0
(29)

Other
£'000

Total
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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4 Employee benefits and staff numbers cont'd
4.2 Average number of people employed
2017-18
Permanently
employed
Number

WTE Total
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged
on capital projects

2016-17
WTE Total
Number

Other
Number

34

33

1

36

0

0

0

0

4.4. Exit packages agreed in the financial year
There were no non-contractual payments made to individuals where the payment value was more than 12 months’ of their
annual salary in the financial year
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the
Schemes can be found on he NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Bo h are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way hat would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from hose that would be determined at the
reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate
assessments in intervening years”. An ou line of these follows:
4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently he Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the
reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data
for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme
liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 2018 with summary global member and accounting
data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed
by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of he scheme is contained in he report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension
Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on he NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of his valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for he NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme
Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and
consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valua ion is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assump ions are published by HM
Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by the scheme actuary. This
will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are
provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2%
of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the
Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £197,000 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: £212,479) were payable to the NHS
Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now
based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the
Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1.
Due to the joint management structure with NHS South Cheshire CCG the actual employers' contribution paid over to the NHS Pension Scheme in
2017-18 was £192,483 (2016-17 £189,049). Due to the recharges between the two organisations the figures accounted for are shown in note 4.1.1
and not the actual amount paid.
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5 Operating expenses
2016-17
Total
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

1,730.00
228.00
1,958

1,833
254
2,087

1,043
84,083
7,969
0
0
21,046
0
130
531
2,717
19
804
6
769
0
0
17
0
0
0

1,123
76,492
12,982
0
0
14,395
0
119
67
6,841
84
727
55
558
0
0
14
0
0
0

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from founda ion trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Sustainability Transformation Fund
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down and consumed
Depreciation
Amortisa ion
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·
Assets carried at amortised cost
·
Assets carried at cost
·
Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceu ical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Legal fees
Grants to Other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Funding to group bodies
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Other expenditure
Total other costs

0
0
0
0
0
41

0
0
0
0
0
50

0
0
0
16,239
23
0
14,198
317
159
254
0
0
22
0
0
0
0
0
28
150,415

0
1
0
17,336
15
0
13,715
116
0
605
0
0
15
0
0
0
106
0
20
145,436

Total operating expenses

152,373

147,523

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2m (2016/17 Not applicable)
External Audit fees for 2017/18 are £34,000 net of irrecoverable VAT of £6,800 . The total cost to the CCG is £40,800.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

4,091
3,916
95.72%

39,741
37,358
94.00%

4,270
3,979
93.19%

37,713
35,959
95.35%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in he Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

1756
1670
95.10%

96074
95838
99.75%

1752
1510
86.19%

92484
92103
99.59%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
No late payment fees were in incurred
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7 Operating Leases
7.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Buildings
£'000
0
0
0
0

763
0
0
763

2017-18
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
4
0
0
4

767
0
0
767

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000
0
0
0
0

555
0
0
555

2016-17
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
2
0
0
2

557
0
0
557
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8 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£'000

Assets under
construction
and payments
on account
£'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2017

0

0

0

0

Plant &
machinery
£'000
0

Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2018

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
90

0
18

0
108

Depreciation 01 April 2017

0

0

0

0

0

0

21

3

24

Charged during he year
Depreciation at 31 March 2018

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

14
35

3
6

17
41

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018

0

0

0

0

0

0

55

12

67

Purchased
Donated
Government Granted
Total at 31 March 2018

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

55
0
0
55

12
0
0
12

67
0
0
67

Owned
Held on finance lease
On-SOFP Lift contracts
PFI residual: interests

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

55
0
0
0

12
0
0
0

67
0
0
0

Total at 31 March 2018

0

0

0

0

0

0

55

12

67

2017-18

Land
£'000

Dwellings
£'000

Transport
equipment
£'000
0

Information
technology
£'000
90

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
18

Total
£'000
108

Asset financing:

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000

Assets under
construction &
payments on
account
£'000

Dwellings
£'000

Plant &
machinery
£'000

Transport
equipment
£'000

Information
technology
£'000

Furniture &
fittings
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2017

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Revaluation gains
Impairments
Release to general fund
Other movements
Balance at 31 March 2018

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
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8 Property, plant and equipment cont'd
8.1 Economic lives

Buildings excluding dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Information technology
Furniture & fit ings

Minimum
Maximum Life
Life (years)
(Years)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
3
5
5
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9 Trade and other receivables

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and O her WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Capital
Non-NHS and O her WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and O her WGA accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private partnership
arrangement prepayments and accrued income

Current
2017-18
£'000

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

Non-current
2016-17
£'000

390
0
394
859
106
0
143
93
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

381
0
333
206
85
0
315
14
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

0
0
0
0
1,985

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
1,334

0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non current

1,985

1,334

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

0

0

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2017-18
£'000
DH Group
Bodies

2017-18
£'000
on D
Group
Bodies

110
63
102
275

67
0
18
85

2016-17
£'000
All receivables
prior years
0
0
116
116

£46,091 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post he statement of financial position date.
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10 Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 01 April 2017
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2018

80
(3)
77

2016-17
£'000
26
54
80

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

77
0
0
0
77

80
0
0
0
80

0
0
0

0
0
0

77

80

0

0

2017-18
£'000

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2018
Pa ients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included above
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11 Trade and other payables

Current
2017-18
£'000

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and O her WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and O her WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and O her WGA accruals
Non-NHS and O her WGA deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

0
1,222
0
1,454
0
4,026
0
2,730
0
24
7
22
0
231
9,716

Total current and non-current

9,716

Current
2016-17
£'000

Non-current
2017-18
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
2,328
0
265
0
4,128
0
2,735
0
22
7
22
0
198
9,705

Non-current
2016-17
£'000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

9,705

Other payables includes £16,714 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018
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12 Contingencies
2016-17
£'000

2017-18
£'000
Contingent liabilities
Equal Pay
NHS Resolution Legal Claims
Employment Tribunal
NHS Resolution employee liability claim
Redundancy
Continuing Healthcare
Net value of contingent liabilities

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
476
476

Contingent assets
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities
Net Value of Contingent Liabilities
Contingent Assets
Net value of contingent assets

0
0
0
0

0
476
0
476
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13 Financial instruments
13.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing
the risks a body faces in undertaking its ac ivities.
Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activi ies rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activi ies.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
13.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisa ion with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being
in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning group and
therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
13.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The
borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for
the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
13.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in
the trade and o her receivables note.
13.1.3 Liquidity risk
NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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13 Financial instruments cont'd
13.2 Financial assets

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2018

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2017-18
£'000

Loans and
Receivables
2017-18
£'000

Available for
Sale
2017-18
£'000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

1,249
199
77
0
1,525

0
0
0
0
0

1,249
199
77
0
1,525

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2016-17
£'000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2017

Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000

Available for
Sale
2016-17
£'000

Total
2017-18
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

587
99
80
0
766

0
0
0
0
0

587
99
80
0
766

13.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2017-18
£'000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2018

Total
2017-18
£'000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

2,676
6,987
0
0
0
9,663

2,676
6,987
0
0
0
9,663

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2016-17
£'000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2017

Other
2017-18
£'000

Other
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0

2,593
7,061
0
0
0
9,654

2,593
7,061
0
0
0
9,654
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14 Operating segments

Commissioning of Heal hcare
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
152,373
152,373

Income
£'000
(1,037)
(1,037)

Net
expenditure
£'000
151,336
151,336

Total assets
£'000
2,129
2,129

Total
liabilities
£'000
(9,715)
(9,715)

Net assets
£'000
(7,586)
(7,586)

14.1 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net

2017-18
£'000
151,336
0
151,336

14.2 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP

Total assets reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total assets per Statement of Financial Position

Total liabilities reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position

2017-18
£'000

0
0
2,129

2017-18
£'000
(9,715)
0
(9,715)
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15 Pooled budgets
The NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a pooled budget hosted by Cheshire West and Chester Council.
The CCG's share of the expenditure in the financial year was:
2017-18
2016-17
£'000
£'000
Expenditure
196
130

In addition, NHS Vale Royal CCG was part of a Better Care Fund along with NHS West Cheshire CCG and Cheshire West and
Chester Council. The memorandum account below shows expenditure for NHS Vale Royal CCG:
2017-18
2016-17
£'000
£'000
Section 256
2,103
2,101
Carer grants
196
130
Care Act
337
337
Community Equipment
171
201
Integrated case management teams
1,199
681
Community Beds
2,869
3,071
6,875
6,521
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16 Related party transactions
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During he year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which
the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
NHS England (including commissioning support units)
NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
NHS Litigation Authority
NHS Business Services Authority
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and o her central and local government bodies. The
Clinical Commissioning Group has received no revenue or capital payments from charitable funds

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Payments
to Related
Party
£'000
Brian Roberts, Swanlow Medical Centre, Winsford (Wife employed as Practice Manager)
Brian Roberts, University of Chester (Employed as Lecturer)
Clare Watson, Healthskills (Personal friend is Director)
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith, Danebridge Medical Centre (GP Partner)
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith, Vale Royal GP Alliance (Practice is Member of)
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith, DMC Building Group (Member of)
Dr Jonathan Griffiths, Swanlow Practice (GP Partner)
Dr Jonathan Griffiths, Vale Royal GP Alliance (Member of )
Dr Jonathan Griffiths, Dene Drive Property Partnership (GP Practice is member of)
Dr Jonathan Griffiths, North West Leadership Academy (Blackpool Teaching) (Board Member)
Dr Nichola Bishop, Witton Street Surgery (GP Partner)
Dr Nichola Bishop, Vale Royal GP Alliance (Member of )
Dr Nichola Bishop, Astra Zeneca (Shareholder)
Dr Robert Pugh, St Luke's Hospice (Trustee)
Dr Teresa Strefford, Oakwood Medical Centre (GP Partner)
Dr Teresa Strefford, Vale Royal GP Alliance (Practice is Member of)
Lynda Risk, Price Waterhouse Cooper (Daughter employed by)
Simon Whitehouse, University Hospital of North Midlands NHS Trust (Wife employed as Staff Nurse)
Simon Whitehouse, Active Cheshire (Trustee)
Suzanne Horrill, One to One Midwifery (Acquainted with)
Suzanne Horrill, NHS England Pharmacy Regulation & Services Committee (Lay Member)
Tracey Cole, NICE Technology Appraisal Committee (Lay member)
Tracey Cole, Chief Exec, Robert Jones & Agnes Hunt Hospital NHS Trust (Partner employed as)
Tracey Cole, (LASCNA) Lancashire & South Cumbria Neurological Alliance (Trustee of)

5,269

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£'000
-

-

14

3
15,378
863
5,269
863
177
25
863
306
6,400
863
3,043
192
441
-

11
11
11
15
11
477
-

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£'000
32
4
47
32
20
16
17
327
6
41
-

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000
14
15
6
78
-
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17 Events after the end of the reporting period
The Governing Body of the CCG have considered proposals from executive management to merge with NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, NHS West Cheshire CCG and NHS South Cheshire
CCG with effect from 1 April 2020. The CCG Governing Body have agreed and the proposal will now be subject to approval by a vote of he membership of the CCG. The CCG does not
expect this event to have any significant financial impact in the current year and has not provided for any addi ional costs as plans are not sufficiently developed at this time to iden ify any
potential restructuring costs.
Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning Group in the 2017/2018 reporting period
18 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial du ies under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed he amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2017-18
Target
N43A
147,836
0
146,799
0
12,840
2,190

2017-18
Performance
N43B
152,373
0
151,336
0
12,991
2,019

2016-17
Target
N43C
145,849
50
144,874
0
12,505
2,201

2016-17
Performance
N43D
147,571
50
146,596
0
12,505
1,998
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March 2018)
Dr Jonathan Griffiths – GP Clinical Chair
Jonathan Griffiths is a GP at Swanlow Practice in Winsford, Cheshire, and
Chair of NHS Vale Royal CCG.
Jonathan qualified from Manchester University in 1994. He worked as a
junior doctor in the West Midlands and did his GP training in South
Birmingham. He then worked as a GP for 7 years in South Staffordshire,
where for a while he was involved as a member of the Professional
Executive Committee for the local PCT. In 2005 he moved to work at
Swanlow Practice in Winsford.
He has been involved in commissioning in Vale Royal since Practice
Based Commissioning (PBC) first developed a few years ago, and was
Chair of Vale Royal PBC group before the NHS reforms led to the
creation of Clinical Commissioning Groups. He is a member on the
board of the North West Leadership Academy, and his professional
interests include GP commissioning and clinical leadership.
You can follow his blog on the CCG website at www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk/
news-and-events/blog and on Twitter @DrJonGriffiths
Clare Watson – Accountable Officer
Clare has worked in the NHS since 1993, starting in East Cheshire Health
Authority as a management trainee and moving across the county
through various organisational mergers and different commissioning
roles before leaving Chester in 1999 to move to Stockport Health
Authority and East Stockport PCG as Head of Primary Care.
Clare worked in primary care, children’s commissioning, community
services and integrated commissioning, finishing as Acting Executive
Director of Primary Care and Partnerships before moving to Tameside &
Glossop in 2008. She held positions as Director of Transformation and
Commissioning for the PCT and CCG before taking on a role as Executive
Director of Strategic Commissioning for the Integrated Commissioning
function, which was a merger of the Executive Director teams of the CCG
with Tameside Borough Council. This offered Clare the opportunity to
take on a much broader place-based commissioning brief, including
estates, health and work, as well as working with the new Greater
Manchester Devolution team. Clare came to South Cheshire & Vale
Royal CCGs in September last year and is proud to lead the organisations
forward.
Clare lives in Hale with her husband Mike, two children Matthew, 14,
Rebecca, 12 and two very spoilt cats, Oscar and Barney.
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Lynda Risk – Chief Finance Officer
Lynda is a chartered accountant by profession and has worked in the
NHS for nearly 20 years. After qualifying, Lynda moved to the NHS in
Wales initially in audit and then as Associate Director of Finance, looking
after the financial accounts, a number of secondary care contracts and GP
fund holding. After a period of 4 years Lynda moved to the North West
Regional Office as the primary care finance lead for the North West
region, and became the North West Red Book expert!
With the changes of government Lynda became involved in the
development of many primary care initiatives including PCGs, PMS, PDS
and ultimately PCTs. Feeling the need to get back to the coal face, Lynda
moved to South Cheshire and became the Head of Finance for the
Central Cheshire and Crewe and District PCGs, this involved managing a
devolved PCG based financial budget and a contract portfolio including
Mid Cheshire NHST. After the advent of PCTs, Lynda moved into the
commissioning team, taking on performance, information and
contracting and their related management accounting functions. This
ultimately involved the development and implementation of payment by
results. As the contracting function became more complex and the PCTs
in East and Central Cheshire merged, Lynda became more focused on the
contracting agenda.
Tracey Cole – Executive Director of Commissioning
Tracey started her career as an NHS management trainee in Wales and
went on to work in a number of acute and specialist trusts across the
North West of England as a general manager. She has qualifications in
project management, patient and public involvement, NHS management
and executive leadership. Tracey sits on a national committee for NICE
(National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) which makes clinical
and cost effectiveness decisions on new treatments and technologies.
Joining the Executive Team in January 2018, she brings 19 years of NHS
and third sector senior management experience with her along with a
passion for leadership development and a track record of delivering
clinically led service improvements.
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Moira Angel – Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding
Moira has worked in the NHS for over 40 years and has experience in
executive director, clinical and managerial leadership positions. She has
worked in provider commissioning and within national organisations
such as NHS England, with roles in primary care, secondary care,
community services, special hospitals, prison health care and joint posts
with social care.
Starting her career as a learning disability nurse helped her develop a
strong set of values and the delivery of person centred care.
Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults has been strong feature in
all of her roles. In addition, as Director of Nursing and Quality, Moira has
led and influenced strategic change. Moira has a particular passion for
developing people and teams and established with colleagues a training
and development company and she is also an independent nurse
consultant.
Moira is a public health member and takes an active interest in
population health research and evaluation.
Judi Thorley – Executive Director of Quality & Safeguarding & Chief
Nurse
Judi is a Registered General Adult Nurse and Registered Learning
Disability Nurse with over 30 years’ experience. Judi has held various
leadership positions in different organisations within the NHS, leading
service change and development at a local, regional and national level.
Judi is one of only 2 Registered Learning Disability Nurses to have been
selected for the Kings fund, Johnson & Johnson Nurse Leadership
programme in 2002. This opportunity increased Judi’s interest in
effecting real change for those most vulnerable in our society and led to
her undertaking a Master’s degree in Organisational Leadership in Health
and Social Care at Nottingham University, graduating in 2006.
Passionate about high quality care for all Judi likes to work with patients,
service users, carers, partners and staff to listen and hear real life
experiences to collaboratively improve services.
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Dr Nichola Bishop – GP Member
Nichola qualified from the University of Newcastle-upon-Tyne in
1998 and went on to do her GP training in Macclesfield, and is now
based in Northwich where she has been a GP for 10 years. In her clinical
practice she takes a particular interest in sexual health and minor surgery.
She became involved in the CCG in 2014 when she took on the role of
Clinical Lead for women and children and Caldicott Guardian. She was
elected to the Governing Body in 2017 and is currently Clinical Lead for
Quality and Safeguarding.
Dr Fiona McGregor-Smith – GP Member
Fiona attended St Andrew’s University followed by Manchester University
and qualified in 1986. She worked as a junior doctor in Manchester and
Leighton Hospital and, after combining locum work and travelling in
Australia, completed her general practice training in Nantwich, Cheshire.
She has been a partner at Danebridge Medical Centre in Northwich since
1990 and has held roles as a GP adviser for the Health Authority and the
Cheshire Community Health Care Trust.
Currently she works three days a week at Danebridge where, in addition
to clinic commitments and teaching medical students, she undertakes the
role of executive partner and has a particular interest in family planning.
One day a week is spent as the prescribing lead on the Vale Royal
Commissioning Group Executive Board.
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Dr Teresa Strefford – GP Member
Teresa qualified from Leeds Medical School in 1997 and went on to do
her GP training in Knaresborough and Harrogate. In 2001 she moved to
Cheshire and was GP Partner on the Wirral before becoming a partner at
Oakwood medical Centre in 2004. In her clinical practice she takes a
particular interest in women’s health as well as being prescribing lead for
the practice.
She became involved in commissioning initially as part of the PBC group.
She became involved in the CCG in 2011 when she took on the role of
Lead for Quality and Patient Safety. She was elected to the Governing
Body in 2013.
Dr Robert Pugh – Secondary Care Doctor
Bob comes from Bolsover in North Derbyshire and qualified as doctor in
Leeds in 1971. After training posts in Yorkshire, Edinburgh, Glasgow and
at Alder Hey in Liverpool, he became a second consultant paediatrician
at Leighton Hospital in November 1978.
At Leighton as a consultant, as well as a busy clinical workload, he helped
develop the children’s home nursing team and continued and developed
specialist interests in children with cancer (in conjunction with Alder Hey),
neurodisability and epilepsy. He was clinical director and child health
strategic lead for over 15 years and the Trust’s lead for Child
Safeguarding until 2008.
In 2008 he retired from active clinical practice to continue his other
interest of medical education (mainly undergraduate teaching) and left
this post in July 2013, maintaining some contacts with the University of
Manchester medical school. Bob joined both CCGs in September 2013 as
the secondary care doctor (consultant) to the governing body. He has
been a trustee of St Luke’s Cheshire Hospice since 2013. He has recently
become a member of the CQC cohort of doctors acting as members of
hospital inspections teams.
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Suzanne Horrill – Lay Member, Chair of Governance & Audit
Committee
Suzanne Horrill is the Lay Member - Governance and Audit for Vale Royal
CCG. She has responsibility as Chair of the Governance and Audit
Committee and as a member of the Governing Body for ensuring the
CCG embraces good and effective governance.
Suzanne graduated as a Chartered Accountant in 1996 having trained at
Price Waterhouse first in Liverpool then in Manchester before working for
several years in internal audit at Airtours plc. From there Suzanne moved
back into practice at Ernst & Young as a senior manager in their Business
Risk Services division based in Manchester.
In 2007 Suzanne moved into the public sector and joined Transport for
Greater Manchester (TFGM) as their Head of Risk and Assurance. Other
current roles include independent audit committee member for a social
housing organisation in Lancashire, and lay member for NHS England’s
pharmaceutical regulatory committee
Terry Savage – Lay Member, Patient & Public Engagement
Terry spent 25 years as a trade union official starting his career in
Leicester covering the Northants and Peterborough areas before moving
to Birmingham and then Nottingham. He spent the last 15 years of his
career as a national negotiating officer based in the union head office in
Manchester.
Terry was appointed as a non-executive director of Central Cheshire PCT
in 2003, before moving to the reorganised Central and Eastern Cheshire
PCT. He was elected as chair of the PCT community services (CECH) from
2007, which operated as an arm’s length body reporting to the PCT.
Terry remained chair of CECH until they were taken over by Eastern
Cheshire NHS Trust in April 2011. He was appointed to the Vale Royal
Governing Body as the Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement in
2012.
Terry sat as an independent member of the Cheshire Police Authority
from 2006 – 2012 when it was abolished to make way for the incoming
Police and Crime Commissioner. He also served as the chair of the
Cheshire branch of the national charity Crimestoppers 2011 – 2014.

138

Appendix 2: NHS Vale Royal CCG Governing Body Biographies (at 31
March 2018)
Ann Gray – Lay Member
Ann joined the Governing Body as a generalist lay member in 2017.

Brian Roberts – Co-opted Lay Member
Brian joined the Governing Body as a generalist lay member in 2017.
Living in the Vale Royal area he is passionate about sharing his
experiences and ensuring the voice of our local population feeds into our
commissioning decisions.
With a wealth of experience working in the public sector, he began his
career in the police in the 1980s and had reached the level of Chief
Inspector with Cheshire Constabulary by 2006. Now retired as a fully
serving officer, Brian shares his knowledge and experience with students
from both Liverpool Hope University and the University of Chester,
lecturing on subjects such as criminal justice as well as leadership and
cyber security.
Away from work Brian manages an under 16s football team as well as
finding time to fit in competing in triathlons and walking over hot coals
to raise funds for local charities.
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Ian Ashworth – Director of Public Health, Cheshire West & Chester
Council (CWaC)
Ian was appointed Director of Public Health for Cheshire West and
Chester Council in June 2017.
He has a background in delivering nationally recognised health
improvement programmes within local authorities and NHS Trusts across
the North West. Having completed his MPH at the University of
Liverpool in 2009, Ian then commenced specialist public health training
across Greater Manchester in 2010.
Joining Salford City Council’s Public Health team in 2014, he was
responsible for leading and managing the directorate’s commissioning
spend and its innovative arrangement with Salford CCG. As the
prevention lead for Salford’s nationally recognised integrated care
system, his leadership resulted in the city achieving the World Health
Organisation Age Friendly City status and enabled it to become a
successful demonstrator site for the National Diabetes Prevention
programme.
Ian is now responsible for developing vibrant and healthy communities
across Cheshire West and Chester with the aim of increasing inclusive
leisure, heritage and culture opportunities recognising the many health
benefits that this creates.
As a Fellow of the Faculty of Public Health and the lead DPH for sexual
health in Cheshire and Merseyside, Ian is also overseeing the national
Public Health England pilot for collaborative sexual health
commissioning.
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